Evolution of Photosynthesis

Martin F. Hohmann-Marriott¹ and Robert E. Blankenship²

¹Department of Biochemistry, University of Otago, Dunedin 9016, New Zealand

²Departments of Biology and Chemistry, Washington University in St. Louis, St. Louis, Missouri 63130; email: blankenship@wustl.edu

Annu. Rev. Plant Biol. 2011. 62:515-48

First published online as a Review in Advance on March 23, 2011

The Annual Review of Plant Biology is online at plant.annualreviews.org

This article's doi: 10.1146/annurev-arplant-042110-103811

Copyright © 2011 by Annual Reviews. All rights reserved

1543-5008/11/0602-0515\$20.00

Keywords

oxygen, reaction center, chlorophyll, chemiosmosis, electron transport, endosymbiosis

Abstract

Energy conversion of sunlight by photosynthetic organisms has changed Earth and life on it. Photosynthesis arose early in Earth's history, and the earliest forms of photosynthetic life were almost certainly anoxygenic (non-oxygen evolving). The invention of oxygenic photosynthesis and the subsequent rise of atmospheric oxygen approximately 2.4 billion years ago revolutionized the energetic and enzymatic fundamentals of life. The repercussions of this revolution are manifested in novel biosynthetic pathways of photosynthetic cofactors and the modification of electron carriers, pigments, and existing and alternative modes of photosynthetic carbon fixation. The evolutionary history of photosynthetic organisms is further complicated by lateral gene transfer that involved photosynthetic components as well as by endosymbiotic events. An expanding wealth of genetic information, together with biochemical, biophysical, and physiological data, reveals a mosaic of photosynthetic features. In combination, these data provide an increasingly robust framework to formulate and evaluate hypotheses concerning the origin and evolution of photosynthesis.

Contents

INTRODUCTION	516
The Energetics of Present Life	516
Energetics of the Early Period in	
Life History	517
The Quest for Carbon	517
Proton and Electron Transport	517
Distribution of Photosystems	
and Rhodopsins	518
This Review	518
GEOLOGICAL EVIDENCE FOR	
PHOTOSYNTHESIS	518
Carbon in Ancient Rocks	519
Oxygen	519
Fossil Record	520
Chemical Indicators	520
Genetic Evidence	520
MECHANISMS OF EVOLUTION	521
Molecular Evolution	521
Establishing Metabolic Networks	521
EVOLUTION OF COFACTORS	521
Iron Sulfur Cluster	521
Hemes	522
Quinones	522
Chlorophylls	524
EVOLUTION OF PROTEIN	
COMPLEXES	527
Rhodopsins	527
Reaction Centers	527
ATP Synthases	532
Light-Harvesting Complexes	534
Quinol-Acceptor Oxidoreductase	535
EVOLUTION OF ORGANISM	
GROUPS	536
Evolution of Photosynthetic	
Bacteria	536
Evolution of Photosynthetic	
Eukaryotes	536
PERSPECTIVE	540

INTRODUCTION

Our planet is alive and photosynthesis powers it. This is evident by the spectral signature of our planet (96), which is colored by the pigments engaged in harvesting sunlight. An atmosphere in which large amounts of complex organic molecules and high concentrations of oxygen coexist (106) is another sign that the entire planet is bustling with life. Over billions of years, photosynthetic organisms have transformed our planet and the life on it (30). The interdependence of photosynthesis and the development of our planet and the life it harbors make the study of the evolutionary development of photosynthesis an exciting endeavor that connects experimental data and theoretical concepts across scientific disciplines.

The Energetics of Present Life

Life requires a constant flux of energy to persist and proliferate. The energy gradient that maintains our biosphere is provided by photosynthesis. Photosynthetic organisms stabilize the fleeting energy contained in a photon by breaking and creating chemical bonds against the chemical equilibrium. Our present atmosphere composition, with more than 20% O₂, provides the basis of the energy gradient that sustains life close to the Earth's surface (147). The dominant group of photosynthetic organisms generates O₂ through the decomposition of water. The electrons liberated in this process can be used to reduce inorganic carbon to form organic molecules to build cellular components. This stored redox energy can be released by oxidizing the generated molecules, thereby recombining electrons with O2 and protons to generate water. This process is the basis of energy generation by oxygen-dependent respiration. Photosynthesis and oxygen-dependent respiration complete a water-oxygen cycle (46). Before water was adopted as the main electron source, photosynthetic organisms may have utilized hydrogen, ferrous iron, and hydrogen sulfide in place of oxygen as an electron source for redox cycling (Table 1), and even today many types of anoxygenic (non-oxygen-evolving) photosynthetic organisms utilize these electron donors instead of water. The continued utilization of oxygen, sulfur, and iron, in combination with the incorporation of inorganic carbon, left signatures for tracing the early evolution of life and metabolic processes such as photosynthesis through geological times (74).

Energetics of the Early Period in Life History

Virtually all oxygen in our atmosphere has been produced by oxygenic photosynthetic organisms. However, for long periods in the history of our planet and life, oxygen may not have been present in the atmosphere to an appreciable extent (80). The ancient atmosphere was composed of methane, carbon dioxide, and nitrogen. The organisms that lived then did not rely on the oxygen-water cycle but were linked to other molecules in a strictly anaerobic biochemistry. When O₂ appeared in the atmosphere approximately 2.4 Gya, it fundamentally altered the redox balance on Earth, and organisms were either forced to adapt to oxygen, retreat to anaerobic ecological niches, or become extinct. Evolving ways to tolerate O2 and eventually to utilize the tremendous amount of energy available when O_2 is used as a terminal oxidant, organisms greatly expanded their repertoire of metabolic processes (29, 152).

The Quest for Carbon

The ability to create organic molecules by incorporating inorganic carbon is critical to carbon-based life forms. Creatures that can do it without using organic molecules produced by others are endowed with the title "autotroph." Different pathways for the incorporation of carbon exist (171) (Table 1). Some organisms grow autotrophically on methane that is oxidized to generate energy as well as to provide the carbon for incorporation into cellular metabolism (173) by aerobic and oxygen-independent respiration (145). In contrast to CH₄ incorporation, where getting rid of electrons is the tricky part, the incorporation of CO₂ requires electrons. Electron donors in the environment are the staple electron source for chemoautotrophic organisms, and electrons boosted by light-driven reaction centers

Table 1	Redox midpoint potentials of electron donor and electron
carrier re	dox couples

		Redox midpoint
Reductant	Redox couple	potential at pH 7 [V]
Hydrogen ^a	$H_2/2H^+$	-0.420
Sulfide ^a	H_2S/S^0	-0.240
Ferrous iron ^{b,c}	Fe ²⁺ /Fe(OH) ₃	0.150
Hydrogen peroxide ^a	H ₂ O ₂ /O ₂	0.270
Water ^a	H ₂ O/1/2 O ₂	0.815
Ferredoxin (red) ^a	Fd (red)/Fd (ox)	-0.430
NADPH ^a	NADPH/NADP	-0.320
Menaquinol ^d	MQ (red)/MQ (ox)	-0.070
Ubiquinol ^d	UQ (red)/UQ (ox)	0.100
Plastoquinol ^d	PQ (red)/PQ (ox)	0.100
Rieske FeS cluster ^c	RFeS (red)/RFeS (ox)	0.100-0.270

 a See Reference 121. b See Reference 118. c At 10 $\mu M \ L^{-1.}$ d See Reference 160.

(RCs) provide electrons for photoautotrophic organisms, including green sulfur bacteria, most purple bacteria, cyanobacteria, and photosynthetic eukaryotes. In contrast, photoheterotrophic organisms, including some types of purple bacteria, acidobacteria, heliobacteria, and some photosynthetic Archaea, utilize light energy to generate a protonmotive force and phosphoanhydride bonds but require organic molecules as a carbon source. A schematic of different modes of light-driven energy conversion is given in **Figure 1**.

Proton and Electron Transport

The flow of electrons—from electron donor to electron acceptor—is channeled by protein complexes that always contain metallo-organic cofactors. Although dissipating this energy gradient can store energy by generating or breaking chemical bonds, another mechanism for capturing energy is ubiquitous throughout the tree of life. Membrane-bound complexes couple the transfer of electrons across the membrane to the generation of an ion gradient and transmembrane electrical potential. The **Gya:** giga (1×10^9) years ago

Autotroph: an

organism that can produce all carboncontaining molecules from small, inorganic molecules utilizing chemical energy gradients (chemoautotroph) or light energy (photoautotroph)

RC: reaction center



Modes of electron transport. Proton translocation and ATP generation by rhodopsin photoconverters (*a*) and a quinone-type reaction center (Q-type RC) participating in cyclic electron transport (*b*). Reductant generation for carbon and nitrogen fixation by FeS-type RCs during linear electron transport (*c*). Proton translocation is indicated by white arrows. Electron transport is indicated by solid lines and arrows. Photon absorption is indicated by yellow lightning bolts.

Q-type RC: reaction center in which the last electron acceptor is a quinone

FeS-type RC:

reaction center in which the last electron acceptor is an iron sulfur cluster electrochemical gradient established in this manner is utilized by ATP synthases (119, 120) to generate phosphoanhydride bonds stored in ATP, the universal currency for transferring energy within cells. This chemiosmotic mechanism was likely present in the last common ancestor and has been carried forward to the three presently persisting domains of life, Bacteria, Archaea, and Eukarya (97).

Distribution of Photosystems and Rhodopsins

Photosynthetic organisms are able to engage the chemiosmotic machinery by directly translocating protons (rhodopsins) or electrons (photosynthetic RCs) across a membrane. The RCs donate electrons to either guinones (Q-type RCs) or an FeS cluster (FeS-type). Anoxygenic Q-type RCs participate in a cyclic electron transport that generates a proton gradient for ATP generation. FeS-type RCs provide electrons for cyclic electron transport or for the incorporation of oxidized C, S, and N-containing molecules. Whereas the rhodopsin contributes substantially to energy generation only in Archaea, chlorophyllcontaining RCs have been identified only in Bacteria (15) and their endosymbiotic progeny. Oxygen-producing cyanobacteria combined with an early eukaryotic organism in a process called endosymbiosis to give rise to all photosynthetic eukaryotes. These oxygenic organisms utilize a Q-type and an FeS-type RC in series to generate ATP and electron-reducing equivalents that drive carbon fixation.

This Review

The evolution of photosynthesis spans billions of years and interfaces with the emergence of life and the geology and atmosphere of our planet. Although in some ways daunting, this complex interdependence provides a fantastic framework to cross-check our hypotheses for how photosynthesis emerged and developed. In addition, we can query live witnesses in that organisms alive today are the winning designs that carry metabolic innovations from the dawn of life within their genomes, including how to live on light and air.

GEOLOGICAL EVIDENCE FOR PHOTOSYNTHESIS

It has been proposed that meteorites may have provided large amounts of organic molecules that constituted the ingredients of the primordial soup, postulated as a cradle of life (70, 135). Indeed, the chemical analysis of meteorites shows substantial amounts of organic materials (4, 35). Once this abiotic source of organic carbon was used up, carbon-based life forms must have incorporated inorganic carbon, as indicated by a change in carbon isotope ratio. The existence of inorganic carbon fixation, however, is not necessarily an indication of photosynthesis, because energy gradients provided by geological features can also drive metabolism in the absence of light (105).

Carbon in Ancient Rocks

A great amount of progress in the understanding of the emergence of life and photosynthesis has resulted from advances in the analysis of ancient rocks. Earth may have started to cool down by 4.4 Gya to allow for rock formation (179). Early life may reach as far back as the oldest rocks we know, but metamorphic events that may have changed ancient rocks add uncertainty in tracing life back this far. Carbon signatures that point to established life have been found in Greenland rocks dating to 3.8 Gya (109, 157). If correct, then the emergence of life would coincide with or come relatively soon after the end of the "late heavy bombardment" by asteroids, 4.1-3.8 Gya. Numerical models suggest that throughout this infernal stage, places on Earth suitable for harboring microbial life may have existed (1). However, the demonstration that carbon signatures thought to indicate biological carbon fixation can be produced by abiotic processes (115) has triggered a careful reevaluation of carbon isotope-based evidence of early life and photosynthesis.

Oxygen

Oxygen is considered a solid indicator for cyanobacterial-type photosynthesis. The ability of organisms to carry out oxygenic photosynthesis may have preceded the accumulation of oxygen in the atmosphere by hundreds of millions of years (26). The reasons for this

putative delay in accumulation of oxygen are not clear and may include both biological and geological aspects. The ability to evolve oxygen may have been very inefficient at first, with organisms only slowly developing the needed defenses against oxygen. There may also have been dissolved buffers present that prevented oxygen from escaping into the atmosphere. One prominent buffer is ferrous iron, which combines with oxygen to form magnetite, hematite, and siderite. The resulting large banded iron formations (BIFs) occur in the geologic record as early as 3.7 Gya and largely stopped forming after oxygen accumulated in the atmosphere (80) (Figure 2). An alternative mechanism for the formation of BIF is anoxygenic photosynthesis that utilizes ferrous iron as an electron donor (132). Evidence for the increase of oxygen in the atmosphere comes from the nitrogen-oxygen redox cycle, which seems to have been established by 2.7 Gya (59); the chromium signatures consistent with the presence of oxygen by 2.8 Gya (51); and the sulfur fractionation data consistent with oxygen accumulation by 2.5 (28) to 2.45 (48) Gya.

The accumulation of oxygen occurred in two phases (80). A gradual increase in atmospheric oxygen to 1-2% occurred between 2.4 and 2.0 Gya. After this "great oxygenation event" (80), oxygen levels may have been stable until 850 Mya; levels then rose to the \sim 20% observed in today's atmosphere, with a likely peak of 30-35% in the Carboniferous era (80). The second rise has been linked to the emergence of photosynthetic eukaryotes and the increased photosynthetic productivity of algae and lichens colonizing land masses, which accelerated the degradation of rocks, thereby releasing fertilizing minerals 800 Mya. A high oxygen concentration in the Carboniferous (360-300 Mya), as revealed in insect gigantism (73), seems to coincide with the emergence of vascular plants and with increased carbon burial (12). The oxygenation of the upper oceans follows a pattern that parallels that of the atmosphere, whereas the deep oceans may have been oxygenated only as recently as 580-550 Mya (92).

Mya: mega (1×10^6) years ago



Evolution of life and photosynthesis in geological context, highlighting the emergence of groups of photosynthetic organisms. Minimum and maximum estimates for oxygen concentration are indicated by dark blue and light blue areas, respectively. Oxygen concentration data from Reference 80; banded iron formations data from Reference 87.

Fossil Record

The mineralized imprints of organisms provide another measure for the occurrence of life. The fossil record covers the diversification of vascular plants (418-407 Mya) (58) and the earlier eukaryotic land colonizers that left characteristic spores (~470 Mya) (62). Fossils of photosynthetic eukaryotes occur at 1.2 Gya (27). The fossil record of cyanobacteria, however, has recently been a major source of controversy. Fossils occurring in rocks from 3.5 Gya have been grouped into clades, some of which are thought to resemble modern cyanobacterial forms (161). However, recent doubts have been voiced concerning the undisturbed geology of the location (20), the suitability of environmental conditions for bacterial life, and the fossils themselves (143). Although the existence of layered microbial associations as early as 3.50 Gya has been reported (reviewed in Reference 162), uncertainties about the biotic origin of some of the earliest fossils have arisen (67, 162). Recently, layered structures that carry organic globule structures similar to modern stromatolites dating back to 2.72 Gya have been described (101).

Chemical Indicators

A number of different organic molecules derived from distinctive cellular components have been used as biomarkers for specific organism Oxygen-producing photosynthesis groups. enabled the synthesis of biological molecules is oxygen-dependent. whose biogenesis Methyl-substituted hopanoids (168) were thought to provide a first biological marker for an emerging oxygen-dependent biosynthetic pathway 2.7 Gya. However, these molecules have also been recently identified in anaerobic purple bacteria (146, 177), thereby removing them as a reliable biomarker for oxygenic photosynthesis. Molecules thought to indicate the presence of green sulfur bacteria (chlorobactene and isorenieratene) and of purple bacteria (okenone) (22) have been reported to have existed as far back as 1.64 Gya.

Genetic Evidence

The presence of oxygen triggered a revolution in cellular metabolism (21, 152). The recent finding that oxygen can be generated from nitric oxide (45) indicates that oxygen-dependent pathways may have been operational before the emergence of oxygenic photosynthesis. However, it is unlikely that this process is capable of generating large quantities of oxygen due to the requirement for high-energy molecular precursors.

MECHANISMS OF EVOLUTION

Molecular Evolution

Evolution occurs on a molecular level through changes in DNA that create novel proteins offering novel metabolic opportunities. Within an organism, gene (84) or genome duplication (140) may provide a "sand box" for molecular innovation. RC evolution (see below) is certainly a case of gene duplication in which a single gene coding for a homodimeric protein is duplicated to derive heterodimeric RCs. Gene fusion and splitting are also the likely mechanisms behind the fused RC center core and antennas (see below). Lateral gene transfer enables the transfer of metabolic capabilities between organisms (148) and is a likely mechanism underlying the presently observed mosaic of photosynthetic light-harvesting complexes (LHCs) within different groups of photosynthetic organisms. Some genomes contain compact clusters that include genes coding for RCs and the synthesis of photosynthetic pigments (85) that may serve as a vehicle for transfer of photosynthetic capabilities between organisms. Lateral gene transfer between Bacteria (164) and Archaea and Bacteria (52) may account for the present distribution of rhodopsins.

Establishing Metabolic Networks

Several concepts have been developed to account for mechanisms that establish metabolic networks and new metabolic capabilities with direct relevance to photosynthesis. Using chlorophyll biosynthesis from hemes as an example, Granick (61) proposed that biosynthetic pathways recapitulate their evolution, hypothesizing that the intermediate compounds of the modern biosynthetic pathways were the

final products of early pathways, and thus the evolution of the pathway can be traced from the beginning to the end. This contrasts with the retrograde hypothesis (81), which posits that present biosynthetic pathways are set up in the reverse order to their evolutionary history and occurred through gene duplications. An example of this retrograde relationship may be present in proteins involved in nitrogen fixation (NifD, K, E, and N) that show relatedness to one another (47). The Granick and retrograde hypotheses are not mutually exclusive. Because the retrograde hypothesis is a consequence of the depletion of "base" molecules present in the primordial soup, molecules that follow the Granick hypothesis may be more derived. For example, heme biosynthesis is conserved throughout Archaea and Bacteria and may involve ancient pathways formed according to the retrograde hypothesis, whereas chlorophyll biosynthesis is more derived and may largely follow the Granick model. Enzymes that act in one metabolic pathway may be recruited to other pathways to perform similar reactions on related substrates (89). An interesting case for a nonspecific enzyme that may have originally modified two places on a symmetrical substrate but later specialized after a gene duplication event is present in chlorophyll biosynthesis (see section entitled The Earliest Chlorophyll).

EVOLUTION OF COFACTORS

Electron transport, proton translocation, and light harvesting are essential functions of photosynthetic systems. Specific protein complexes and molecules are utilized to mediate these functions. Electron transport appears to be composed of an ancient "kit" of components (6) that can be combined and adapted to new functions.

Iron Sulfur Cluster

FeS clusters (90) mediate electron transport in photosynthesis and respiration, including ferredoxins (4Fe-4S, 3Fe-4S, 2Fe-2S) and Rieske FeS clusters. FeS clusters span a wide range of redox potentials from greater than +500 to less than -500 mV versus normal hydrogen electrode (49).

The use of FeS clusters in electron transport may go back to the very beginning of the emergence of life (71, 97). In fact, simple FeS clusters form spontaneously from ferrous iron and sulfide in reducing conditions, while assembly machineries for their biosynthesis are found in modern organisms (50, 103). FeS clusters are found universally in Bacteria and Archaea, but it is notable that there is a preference for their use by organisms operating in anaerobic conditions and methanogens, almost certainly owing to their general instability to oxygen exposure.

Where FeS clusters are utilized in organisms, they are buried in proteins to keep oxygen at a distance from the catalytic site. Could oxygen sensitivity be a reason for the lack of FeS clusters in the oxygen-producing Q-type RC (PSII) and for the spatial separation (38) between PSI and PSII in photosynthetic organisms? A look at the redox midpoint potentials of electron transport cofactors of PSI and PSII (**Figure 7**) may suggest that, energetically, oxygen and NADPH production may be accomplished by a single RC.

Rieske iron sulfur cluster. Rieske FeS clusters are employed in cytochrome bc_1 and b_6f complexes of the photosynthetic electron transport chain (Figure 9). Deducing the evolution of the Rieske protein provides a valuable case study for the limits of unguided, sequencebased alignments (100), illustrating a typical problem of many cofactor-containing photosynthetic proteins. The functional domain of the Rieske FeS cluster is almost invariable. Available structural information reveals that a part of the protein is evolutionarily constrained through interactions with cytochrome b, whereas other parts have little evolutionary constraint, the consequence of which is frequent insertion and deletion of amino acids. Deriving phylogenetic data is extremely difficult in small electron transfer proteins like type I monoheme cytochromes, copper proteins, thioredoxins, and ferredoxins because the available information in short sequences is often insufficient to lead to robust phylogenies.

Hemes

Hemes share part of the biosynthetic pathway with chlorophylls (7). Tetrapyrroles serve as electron carriers in all domains of life. Hemecarrying proteins were postulated to have been present in the last common ancestor of Bacteria and Archaea (6, 21, 97). Some methanogens, however, lack cytochromes and quinones entirely (172).

Quinones

Membrane-bound quinones are nearly ubiquitous in Archaea, Bacteria, and Eukarya. Only a few methanogenic Archaea and obligate fermentative organisms do not have the ability to synthesize quinones (128).

Quinone diversity and flexibility. Different quinones have been adapted to mediate electron transport by complexes shared between photosynthetic and respiratory electron transport. Several lines of evidence suggest that menaquinone (MQ) is the "original" quinone. Only cyanobacteria and their progeny have plastoquinone (PQ), and the α,β,γ -proteobacteria have mainly adopted ubiquinone (UQ) (160) (**Figure 3**). Reduced MQ is quickly oxidized by oxygen. The oxygen sensitivity and change in midpoint redox potential of the electron transport chain when oxygen is utilized as an electron acceptor triggered a series of adaptations.

MQs (-70 mV) possess a more negative (by \sim 170 mV) redox midpoint potential than UQs and PQs (+100 mV). A more positive potential quinone pool is critical for bridging the redox potentials from anaerobic legacy metabolism to oxygen. Changes in utilized quinones are an interesting evolutionary marker for investigating the evolution of photosynthesis and respiration because a change in the utilized quinone has consequences for all complexes interacting with the quinone pool (43). Some



Quinone biosynthesis in photosynthetic organisms. The FeS-type reaction center (RC) of the early branching cyanobacterium *Gloeobacter violaceus* contains menaquinone, whereas all other known cyanobacteria contain phylloquinone. Plastoquinone (PQ) synthesis in cyanobacteria (*cyan arrows*) uses a synthesis pathway found in plants as well but also uses an alternative pathway that may utilize proteins with homology to ubiquinone (UQ) synthesis, UbiA, UbiH, and UbiE, which are found in cyanobacterial genomes. The type of quinone in the RC of photosynthetic acidobacteria has been tentatively identified as a menaquinone (MQ), which is present in other acidobacteria. Quinones that are universally present in an organism group are indicated by solid bars, whereas quinones that are not present in all organisms of a group are indicated by broken bars.

 γ -proteobacteria possess the ability to switch between MQ and UQ. The switch from the aerobic use of UQ to the anaerobic use of MQ is observed in the nonphotosynthetic model *Escherichia coli* (174), with different protein complexes having preference for one or the other of the quinones. This flexibility, however, seems to come at a price in that *E. coli* abandoned the cytochrome *bc*₁ complex and its quinone oxidation and reduction sites. It has been suggested that ancestors of the α , β , γ -proteobacteria may have possessed two cytochrome *bc*₁ complexes optimized for operating with either UQ or MQ (43). The ancient MQ is used as the standard RC and acceptor pool quinone by Q-type RCs (filamentous anoxygenic phototrophs) and the RC acceptor A_1 in FeS-type RCs (green sulfur bacteria, heliobacteria) that perform photosynthesis only in anaerobic conditions, whereas other quinones are utilized by organisms that can carry out photosynthesis under aerobic or microaerobic conditions.

Quinones in quinone-type reaction centers. The Q-type RCs contain two quinones as electron acceptors. The first, called Q_A , acts as a single-electron acceptor, and the second, Q_B , accepts two electrons before leaving the

523

RC to become part of the quinone pool. PQ is the Photosystem II RC quinone and pool quinone utilized by all oxygen-producing organisms. Interestingly, the RCs of some purple bacteria contain either one MQ (Q_A) and one UQ (Q_B) (*Rhodopseudomonas viridis*) (37) or two UQs (*Rhodobacter sphaeroides*) (44). This is consistent with the flexibility of utilizing MQ or UQ observed in α , β , γ -proteobacteria. Filamentous anoxygenic phototrophs use MQ as both Q_A and Q_B .

Quinones in iron sulfur-type reaction centers. Almost all known cyanobacteria and their plastid progeny use phylloquinone as a membrane-bound one-electron acceptor (A_1) in Photosystem I. Phylloquinone and MQ have an identical naphthoquinone head group but different side chains and are synthesized by homologous biosynthetic pathways, and as a consequence, respective enzymes are often annotated as their MQ homologs. The early, branching cyanobacterial "living fossil" Gloeobacter violaceus, a primitive, unicellular red algae (Cyanidium caldarium), and a centric diatom (Chaetoceros gracilis) use MQ in the FeS-type RC (129) instead of phylloquinone, which is by far dominant in cyanobacteria and eukaryotic photosynthetic organisms. This distribution may point to (a) the presence of MQ in cyanobacteria that gave rise to eukaryotic cells and the move to phylloquinone in prokaryotic and eukaryotic oxygenic organisms at different occasions, (b) the presence of both MQ and phylloquinone pathways in the ancestor of all photosynthetic eukaryotes, or (c) independent lateral gene transfer events. The ability to utilize different quinones as an A_1 has been demonstrated in mutants deficient in phylloquinone. These mutants readily incorporate PQ and nonnative quinones into the A1 site, leading to only slightly impaired FeS-type RCs (91).

Quinones as modulator of excitation energy transfer. Another potential function of quinones is energy dissipation. Oxidized quinones interact with excited chlorophylls (53, 79), and it is possible that this quinone-mediated excitation quenching has been adapted by photosynthetic organisms to regulate the amount of excitation that reaches the RCs. This has been well documented in the chlorosome complexes of green sulfur bacteria (18). However, in photosynthetic eukaryotes, this function has been assumed by carotenoids in the nonphotochemical quenching mechanism.

Quinone biosynthesis. The present distribution of UQ (in proteobacteria) and PQ (in cyanobacteria and plastids) may identify them as separate inventions. However, the biosynthesis of PQ is well understood only in plants. Genetic deletion of either of two essential steps in plant PQ synthesis, the gene for 2-methyl-6-phytyl-1, 4-benzoquinone/2methyl-6-solanyl-1-4-benzoquonone methyl transferase and the gene for 4hydroxyphenylpyruvate dioxygenase (36), does not lead to complete loss of PQ synthesis in Synechocystis sp. PCC 6803 as it does in plants. Intriguingly, all known cyanobacterial genomes include genes homologous to those genes involved in UQ synthesis (UbiA, Ubi/X, UbiE, and often UbiH) that do not, however, add up to an entire UQ pathway (Figure 3). Given the chemical relatedness (both are benzoquinones), it may be that UQ and PQ synthesis share a common core of enzymes and have a common ancestry but that plastids implemented a modified version that also accomplishes PQ synthesis.

Chlorophylls

Chlorophylls (66) are the defining feature for charge-separating RCs. In addition to the charge-separation machinery, chlorophylls also provide the principal antenna pigments in all RC-containing organisms (63), with the exception of some cyanobacteria in which bilins associated with phycobilisomes provide the characteristic color.

Chlorophyll diversity. In contrast to the open-chain tetrapyrrole bilins, all chlorophylls



Chlorophyll (Chl) and bacteriochlorophyll (BChl) biosynthesis and distribution showing biosynthesis pathways for phycobilins, Chls, and BChls. Hypothetical enzymes are indicated by a question mark. The presence of tetrapyrroles in different groups of photosynthetic organisms is shown. Chls and BChls that are universally present in an organism group are indicated by solid bars, whereas Chls and BChls that are not present in all organisms of a group are indicated by broken bars. 1. All cyanobacteria synthesize Chl *a*. Chl *d* is synthesized by acaryochlorophytes. Chl *b* is synthesized by prochlorophytes. Phycobilins are synthesized by most cyanobacteria. 2. Photosynthetic eukaryotes synthesize Chl *a/b*. Glaucophytes and rhodophytes synthesize phycobilins. Several algae also synthesize Chl *c*. 3. Purple bacteria synthesize either BChl *a* or *b*. 4. Green sulfur bacteria synthesize BChl *a* and either one or combinations of BChl *c/d/e* as the main light-harvesting pigment located in the chlorosomes. 5. The only known photosynthetic acidobacterium contains BChl *a/c*. BChl *c* is the main light-harvesting pigment located in the chlorosomes.

are circularized terapyrroles with a central magnesium. The biogensis of chlorophylls (32) is of interest in understanding the evolution of photosynthesis because knowing the "original" chlorophyll may help in reconstructing the evolution of photosynthetic machinery in different organisms. Following the Granick hypothesis (see section entitled Establishing Metabolic Networks), the two obvious candidates for this ancient chlorophyll are Chl *a* and the bacteriochlorophyll BChl *a* (**Figure 4**). A strict Granick hypothesis would argue for Chl *a* as a very primitive type of chlorophyll. However, Chl *a* is found only in cyanobacteria and their eukaryotic progeny, which possess

the most derived RC complexes (see section entitled Reaction Centers). Most other groups of bacteria contain BChl a (green sulfur bacteria, purple bacteria, filamentous anoxygenic phototrophs, acidobacteria), at least in their charge-separating core, with the exception of heliobacteria (BChl g) and a subgroup of cyanobacteria (acaryophytes) that contain Chl d. It is also the case that some of these organisms contain trace quantities of Chl a derivatives that function in the electron transfer chain in the RCs but not in the antenna system, so that they must retain the ability to synthesize them, although not in large quantities. Can this confusing distribution of pigments be

BChl: bacteriochlorophyll

understood, and does it tell us anything about the evolution of photosynthesis? Almost certainly, more symmetric porphyrins preceded chlorophylls as photosynthetic pigments in early photosynthetic organisms (114). These were replaced in favor of the present group of pigments, which have stronger absorption, especially in the red region of the spectrum.

The earliest chlorophyll. One suggestion is that BChl *a* is structurally closer to the early chlorophyll, at least in terms of the reduction level of the ring system. The near final step in the biosynthesis of Chls and BChls involves the reduction of the double bond in ring D between C17 and C18 in both Chl a and BChl a. In BChl a biosynthesis, a second double bond reduction takes place between C7 and C8 in ring B. These reductions are mediated by the light-independent protochlorophyllide oxidoreductase enzyme complexes BChLNB (for the C17-18 reduction) and BchXYZ (for the C7-8 reduction). These enzyme complexes are homologous and have clearly been derived from an ancestral enzyme complex via gene duplication (153). This ancestral enzyme may have catalyzed both the reduction of ring D as well as the reduction of ring B. A gene duplication event then allowed for the evolution of two separate, specific enzymes that are present in contemporary organisms, and the loss of the bchXYZ genes in oxygenic organisms resulted in organisms that can reduce only the C17-18 double bond in ring D, leading to Chl a. This proposal could be tested using the technique of reconstruction of ancient enzymes (57, 72), in which the ancestral enzyme is produced and its substrate specificity examined.

The Chl d in acaryochlorophytes has recently been shown to be derived from Chl a(159). However, the biosynthetic pathway of BChl g remains an interesting topic for several reasons. The genome of *Heliobacterium modesticaldum* appears to have both *bchLNB* and *bchXYZ* genes (156), suggesting that a compound similar to BChl a (probably the C3-vinyl BChl a) is synthesized as an intermediate for generating BChl g. However, the enzyme catalyzing the conversion of BChl *a* to BChl *g* remains elusive. Interestingly, BChl *g* readily isomerizes to yield Chl *a*. The suggestion has been made that the oxygen-sensitive BChl *g* may be the ancestor of Chl *a* found in all oxygenic organisms (129).

Oxygen-dependent chlorophyll biogenesis steps. The presence of oxygen allowed the development of novel reaction pathways that include Chl biosynthesis. Three of the enzymes involved in chlorophyll biosynthesis are different in aerobic and anaerobic phototrophs. The anaerobic versions of the enzymes are presumed to be the original ones and were replaced at some point with aerobic enzymes that take advantage of the extra energy available when O2 is used as the oxidant (149). In some cases, facultative organisms contain both copies of the enzymes, whereas strict anaerobes contain only the anaerobic versions and aerobes have the aerobic versions. Although in anaerobic conditions BchE incorporates oxygen from water into ring E at the $C13^2$ position, oxygen is the substrate utilized by AcsF. Some purple bacteria that contain both BchE and AcsF can switch between these proteins depending on the availability of oxygen (136). So the present biosynthetic pathway for chlorophyll is a mosaic with some steps catalyzed by enzymes retained from the anaerobic past and some that have more recently been replaced by distinct gene products that utilize O2. This means that care must be used in interpreting evolutionary scenarios based on chlorophyll biosynthetic pathways, as the pathways may have changed over the course of evolution, rendering direct comparisons across wide groups of taxa problematic.

Light niches. What could have prompted the diversity of pigments? One aspect is certainly the availability of light niches that can be exploited by an alternative pigment. This is certainly the case for the chlorophyll *d*–containing acaryophytes (169) and the organisms utilizing the newly discovered chlorophyll f (31) that have a shifted absorption spectrum to other photosynthetic organisms they compete with.

An interesting hypothesis may be that the absorption spectra of chlorophylls follow a sequence that is determined by the evolution for light niche adaptations. It is hoped that biochemical analysis of Chl and BChl biosynthetic pathways, together with their distribution, will allow for a retrospective evolutionary scenario for the evolution of chlorophyll biosynthesis (98).

EVOLUTION OF PROTEIN COMPLEXES

Rhodopsins

Compared with the much more complicated chlorophyll-containing RC complexes, rhodopsins appear to be an amazingly simple way of harvesting light energy. Rhodopsins are proteins that are composed of seven transmembrane helices (TMH) and catalyze the light-driven translocation of ions across the membrane. One chromophore, the carotenoid retinal, undergoes light-induced isomerization. This conformational change is utilized to translocate protons (bacteriorhodopsin in Archaea and proteorhodopsin in proteobacteria) or chloride (halorhodopsin in Archaea).

Rhodopsin distribution. Rhodopsins display a broad, yet patchy distribution in Archaea, thought to be the result of lateral gene transfer and gene loss (164). This distribution of rhodopsins raises the question of whether they were present as photoconverters in the last common ancestor of Archaea (86) or in the last common ancestor of Bacteria and Archaea, or alternatively, whether they spread by horizontal gene transfer (164).

The first rhodopsins in Bacteria were identified in oceanic proteobacteria (10). Expression of these proteorhodopsins in *E. coli* generates a transmembrane potential, indicating a role as ion pump (175). It has been shown that a rhodopsin-generated proton gradient stimulates growth in members of the Bacteroidetes (Flavobacteria) (60) and enhances survival in γ -proteobacteria (*Vibrio*) (39). The structural simplicity and potential utility make rhodopsins a "protein without borders" as it concerns vertical and lateral gene transfer, even between Archaea and Bacteria (52).

Rhodopsin autotrophy? Presently, there is no evidence for light-driven, autotrophic life that is dependent on rhodopsins as photoconverters. There is, however, no obvious fundamental reason why this is not a possibility, given an electron source and mechanisms to convert the rhodopsin-dependent proton gradient into a redox gradient, which can be used to reduce CO_2 (23). However, it is not clear that rhodopsins could achieve the coverage of the solar spectrum that chlorophylls exhibit, and it appears unlikely that a large and efficient antenna system can be coupled to these systems, although xanthorhodopsin contains a single carotenoid antenna pigment, which transfers excitation to retinal pigment with 40% efficiency (5). This is in stark contrast to hundreds or thousands of chromophores that can be connected with one chlorophyll-based RC through antennas (see section entitled Light-Harvesting Complexes). This may be the root reason that chlorophyll RCs and rhodopsin-based photoconverters do not seem to be functional within a single organism at the same time.

Reaction Centers

Photosynthetic RCs represent some of the most complicated known membrane protein assemblies. For example, the FeS-type RC of photosynthetic eukaryotes is composed of more than 13 subunits and 193 cofactors (3), and the Q-type RC (PSII) contains more than 20 protein subunits housing more than 50 cofactors (69). How could such complex proteins evolve (150)? Structural, functional, and genetic studies help us to address this question. These data and the ever increasing number of discovered organisms and RCs reveal patterns that can be used to derive the evolutionary history of RCs.

The defining component of an RC, the charge-separation machinery, is located within a dimeric protein consisting of 5 TMH per



(a) Schematic diagram indicating the transmembrane helical composition of photosynthetic reaction centers (RCs). Purple bacteria and filamentous anoxygenic phototrophs possess a heterodimeric (L, M) quinone (Q)-type RC. The Q-type RC (PSII) of cyanobacteria and photosynthetic eukaryotes consists of a heterodimeric electron transfer core (D1, D2) and two homologous subunits (CP47, CP43) that act as a core antenna. The FeS-type RC (PSI) of cyanobacteria and higher plants is heterodimeric. Heliobacteria and green sulfur bacteria possess a homodimeric FeS-type RC. The core antennas of heliobacteria, green sulfur bacteria, and PSI are homologous to the separately encoded core antennas of PSII of oxygenic eukaryotes and cyanobacteria. Transmembrane helices (TMH) (circles) are encoded by separate genes shown in different colors. (b) Arrangement of electron transport cofactors involved in the charge separation and stabilization of Q-type and FeS-type RCs. The data were obtained from solved crystal structures: Q-type purple bacterium RC (Rhodobacter sphaeroides, PDB 1aij), Q-type cyanobacterium RC (Thermosynechococcus elongatus, PDB 1s51), FeS-type cyanobacterium RC (Thermosynechococcus elongatus, PDB1jb0), FeS-type plant RC (Pisum sativum, PDB 2001). The special set of chlorophylls involved in charge separation is shown in blue and cyan (special pair). Tetrapyrroles are phaeophytins in Q-type RCs and chlorophylls (A1) in FeS-type RCs and are shown in green. Ubiquinone (UQ) (in purple bacterium), plastoquinones (PQ) (Q-type RC of cyanobacteria), and phylloquinone (FeS-type RC of cyanobacteria and plants) are shown in orange. The FeS clusters of the FeS-type RCs are shown in red. Adapted from Reference 78.

dimer (Figure 5). Each half of the dimer contains an identical (or nearly identical) set of cofactors. Four Chls (two per dimer) are arranged in close proximity to form the "special set" that upon excitation expels an electron. This electron is donated to another tetrapyrrole and then to a quinone. There is very little variation between the orientations of these cofactors in all available RC crystal structures (**Figure 5**). If the electron is transferred from the first electron-accepting quinone to a second quinone, the RC is classified as a Q-type RC (often called Type 2 RCs), whereas FeS-type RCs (often called Type 1 RCs) transfer electrons from quinone to a series of FeS clusters. In some FeS-type RCs, specifically the RCs of the green sulfur bacteria and heliobacteria, it is not clear whether the electron resides on the quinone at all or passes from the tetrapyrroles directly to the FeS clusters.

Quinone-type reaction centers. The electron transport pathway in the Q-type RCs utilizes only one branch of the electron transport chain and then passes the electron from one quinone (Q_A) to the quinone of the other chain (Q_B) . The interquinone electron transfer direction is roughly parallel to the plane of the membrane. This functional preference imposes a heterodimeric structure on the Q-type RCs of cyanobacteria and photosynthetic eukaryotes and in purple bacteria and filamentous anoxygenic phototrophs. The RCs of purple bacteria and filamentous anoxygenic phototrophs consist of a dimeric 5 TMH domain. In addition, the Q-type RC in the cyanobacterial lineage also requires the presence of two related 6 TMH complexes, CP43 and CP47, which house additional pigments as a core antenna. These 6 TMH complexes are related to the part of the RC that forms the core antenna in FeS-type RC.

Iron sulfur-type reaction centers. In contrast to the cyanobacterial Q-type RCs in which 5 TMH and 6 TMH are separate proteins, all known FeS-type RCs are 11 TMH dimers in which the 5 TMH electron transport core and the 6 TMH core antennae are contained in a single protein. The FeS-type RCs are homodimeric; that is, the dimer is formed from two identical 11 TMH proteins in green sulfur bacteria, acidobacteria, and heliobacteria. In cyanobacteria, however, the FeS-type RCs are heterodimeric, although there appears to be little functional difference between the two electron transport branches that exist within the heterodimer (125). There are good reasons to postulate that the "original" RC (UrRC) was a homodimer and that the heterodimeric forms were derived via gene duplication and divergence events. However, it is presently not clear whether that dimer was composed of two 11 TMH proteins or two 5 TMH proteins, or whether it was an FeS-type or a Q-type RC or possibly something in between, sometimes humorously called a Type 1.5 RC (16).

11 versus 5 transmembrane helices. Was the UrRC an 11 or a 5 TMH protein? A key aspect when considering this question is the origin of the Q-type RCs in the purple and filamentous anaerobic phototrophs and cyanobacteria. The RCs of purple bacteria and filamentous anoxygenic bacteria are very similar, and there is some evidence that suggests that filamentous anoxygenic bacteria obtained them though lateral gene transfer from purple bacteria (68), therefore, we treat them together in this review as purple RCs.

Did the purple RCs and cyanobacterial RCs emerge from a single gene duplication event, or did gene duplication events in several photosynthetic clades result in the same overall design? Phylogenetic and structural analyses (155) (Figure 6) point to two independent gene duplication events, one giving rise to the heterodimeric purple RCs and the other to the heterodimeric cyanobacterial RC. This independent origin of two 5 TMH RCs argues that the UrRC was a 5 TMH RC, given that a coincidental split of a hypothetical 11 TMH (and loss of the 6 TMH) RC in purple bacteria and cyanobacteria appears unlikely. However, a convergent evolution of a 5 TMH core, owing to the use of mobile quinones as electron acceptor, from an 11 TMH UrRC cannot be excluded.

Quinone-type versus iron sulfur-type reaction centers. FeS-type RCs are physically, if not functionally, homodimeric, and a homodimeric configuration can be assumed to **UrRC:** the last common ancestor of all present chlorophyllbased reaction centers, the "original" RC



0.7 * Gene duplication event

Figure 6

Topology of transmembrane helices (TMH) in photosynthetic organisms and a phylogenetic tree of electron transport TMH. (*a*) Diagram indicating protein topography of reaction centers (RCs) in selected organisms. (*b*) Phylogenetic tree of the five TMH that constitute the RC electron transfer domain of selected photosynthetic organisms. Colors correspond to organism group representatives in (*a*).

be the original form. Therefore, the argument could be made that FeS-type RCs represent the ancestral form. However, there are several considerations that point to the opposite Q-type UrRC. For one, the two FeS-cluster complexes that are the defining part of all FeS-type RCs are housed in subunits not found in Q-type RCs. Some of the FeS-cluster proteins may have different evolutionary origins, as the green sulfur PscD and the cyanobacterial PsaD appear not to be closely related. Furthermore, the quinones in green sulfur bacteria and heliobacteria do not appear to have a function (discussed in Reference 75), giving these quinones a potential status as vestigial cofactors.

Viral reaction center relatives. A recent report identified the presence of genes encoding PSI subunits in cyanobacterial phages (165). One special feature of the encoded genes is that two subunits, PsaJ and PsaF, are fused, in contrast to separate subunits in cyanobacteria. Genes that code for one of the PSII core proteins (D1) have also been found in viral genomes (108) and are expressed during viral infections (105). It has been hypothesized that RC-coding genes allow the maintenance of photosynthetic energy generation that can be utilized to drive viral replication (105, 108). The presence of RC encoding genes in viral genomes demonstrates the potential for lateral gene transfer of photosynthetic genes between different bacteria.

Electron donors. The complexity and high energies involved in extraction of electrons from water results in the integration of the electron-donating enzyme, termed the oxygenevolving center (OEC), into the Q-type RC of cyanobacteria and photosynthetic eukaryotes. An evolutionary scenario for the generation of the OEC has been proposed (17, 151), based in part on similarities between the Mn-containing OEC and the Mn catalases (141). This RC may have first utilized hydrogen peroxide as an electron source. Today, no peroxide-oxidizing RC is known, but a peroxide species may be a possible intermediate during the catalysis of water oxidation (33). Other electron sources used in photosynthesis are extracted by complexes that are not associated with the RC but are supplied to the RC via mobile electron carriers like cvtochrome.

Electron sources other than water were utilized throughout bacterial evolution (40) and are also utilized by present photosynthetic bacteria. Hydrogen is an easily accessible electron donor that is fed into the PQ pool by hydrogenases. The machinery involved in oxidation of ferrous iron is common to many bacteria, including purple bacteria (178) and green sulfur bacteria (76), but appears not to be biochemically defined at the moment. Sulfide oxidation is mediated by a sulfide quinone oxidoreductase (64) in green sulfur bacteria, purple bacteria, and some cyanobacteria. These electron donors (hydrogen, sulfide, ferrous iron, hydrogen peroxide, water) possess increasingly positive redox midpoint potentials (Table 2) that may have been exploited by photosynthetic organisms during the evolution of photosynthesis (132).

Fusion versus selective loss. The presence of FeS- and Q-type RCs within cyanobacteria (Figure 7) poses the question of how these two types of RCs became established within a single organism. Two proposals have been made to account for the coexistence of the two types of RCs within a single organism (Figure 8). The fusion model (14, 113) proposes that FeS- and Q-type RCs developed in different organisms and that a bacterium that ultimately gave rise to the cyanobacterial line received a complementary RC in addition to the RC it already had through lateral gene transfer. The selective loss model (130, 133, 134) suggests that two types of RCs were present early on in a single photosynthetic organism and that all photosynthetic clades, with the exception of cyanobacteria, lost either the FeS- (purple bacteria, filamentous anoxygenic phototrophs) or the Q-type RC (heliobacteria, green sulfur bacteria, acidobacteria). A related proposal suggests that both types of RCs developed within a single organism through gene duplication events but were expressed under different

Table 2 Known	autotrophic pathways					
Nomenclature ^a	Calvin-Benson	Reductive citric acid	Reductive acetyl-	3-Hydroxypropionate/	3-Hydroxypropionate/	
	cycle	cycle	CoA pathway>	malyl-CoA cycle	4-hydroxybutyrate cycle	
Organisms	Cyanobacteria	Green sulfur bacteria	Strictly anaerobic	Chloroflexi	Aerobic Archaea	Anaerobic
	Purple bacteria		Bacteria			Archaea
			Strictly anaerobic			
			Archaea			
Carboxylation	3-Phosphoglycerate	Pyruvate	Acetyl-CoA	Malonyl-CoA	Malonyl-CoA	Pyruvate
product		Oxaloacetate	Formate	(S)-methylmalonyl-CoA	(S)-methylmalonyl-CoA	Oxaloacetate
		2-Oxoglutarate	Pyruvate			2-Oxoglutarate
		Isocitrate				Isocitrate
Main	RubisCO	Pyruvate synthase	CO dehydrogenase	Acetyl-CoA carboxylase	Acetyl-CoA carboxylase	Pyruvate
carboxylase		Phosphoenolpyruvate	Acetyl-CoA	Propionyl-CoA	Propionyl-CoA	synthase
		(PEP) carboxylase	synthase	carboxylase	carboxylase	PEP
		2-Oxoglutarate	Formate			carboxylase
		synthase	dehydrogenase			
		Isocitrate	Pyruvate synthase			
		dehydrogenase				



Overview of reaction center (RC) types and photosynthetic electron transport chains of purple bacteria, oxygenic phototrophs, and green sulfur bacteria. The redox midpoint potential (Em) at physiological conditions for the cofactors is indicated. Protein complexes are shown as shaded blocks. RCs are classified as Q- or FeS type, depending on whether quinones or a series of FeS clusters are the final electron acceptors. Absorption of a photon with energy bv (b, Planck's constant; v, wavelength frequency) by RC pigments causes the transition from the ground state (P) to the excited state (P*). The peak absorption wavelength is indicated for each type of RC. The cytochrome (cyt) bc_1 and b_6f complexes, together with their Rieske FeS clusters (FeS_R), both receive electrons from RCs (dashed arrows) and are incorporated into the schemes to indicate linear and cyclic electron transport. Different species of cyt are indicated by lowercase italic letters: the subscripts L and H refer to low-potential and high-potential forms of cyt b, respectively. In the purple bacterial RC, four different forms of cyt c are indicated by their absorption maxima. Bacteriochlorophyll (BChl) and bacteriopheophytin (BPh) are early electron acceptors in purple bacteria, and pheophytin (Pheo) is the first electron acceptor from P680* in oxygenic phototrophs. QA and QB are primary and secondary quinone electron acceptors, respectively. In purple bacteria, the pool of membrane-associated quinone acceptors is referred to as Q_p , and in oxygenic phototrophs this is designated as the plastoquinone (PQ) pool. In the green sulfur bacteria, a membrane-associated pool of menaquinone (MQ) is present that is oxidized by the cyt bc_1 complex. In oxygenic phototrophs, the oxygen-evolving center (OEC) catalyzes water oxidation and donates electrons via a conserved tyrosine (Tyr) to the P680 RC. Electrons are transferred between the cyt $b_{6}f$ complex and the P700 RC by either a c-type cyt or a plastocyanin (PC). In the FeS-type RCs of oxygenic phototrophs and green sulfur bacteria, the primary electron acceptors are A₀, a (bacterio)chlorophyll, and A1, an electron-accepting quinone species. FeSx, FeSA, and FeSB are RC-associated FeS clusters that transfer electrons to NADP or NAD via ferredoxin (Fd) and a ferredoxin-NAD(P) oxidoreductase (FNR).

conditions and then selectively lost in different clades, with the exception of cyanobacteria (2).

ATP Synthases

All through the tree of life, ATP synthases are instrumental in converting the chemiosmotic gradient, which is due to ions of different concentrations separated by a membrane, into energy that can readily be utilized to drive biochemical reactions. The ubiquitous distribution of ATP synthases and ATPases has prompted the suggestion that they were present in the last common ancestor of Archaea and Bacteria (97). This amazing machine is composed of an ionconducting membrane-embedded component, an ATP catalytic site, and a stalk connecting the membrane and catalytic domain may have been in place when both rhodopsin and the Chltype photoconverter started generating ion gradients. Whether ATP synthases and ATPases were present in the earliest cells is problematic, as primitive membranes were likely to have been very leaky, so that a chemiosmotic gradient could not be maintained (65). This suggests that the chemiosmotic mechanism was not present in the earliest cells but was added prior to the last common ancestor of all extant life.



Schematic diagram illustrating the selective loss (*a*) and fusion (*b*) hypotheses for the evolutionary development of photosynthetic reaction centers (RCs). The core protein subunits of the various RCs are distinguished by color. Homodimeric complexes have two identical subunits, whereas heterodimeric complexes have two similar, yet distinct subunits. The gene duplication, divergence, and loss events that led to existing organisms are indicated. Cells containing two types of RCs are shown enclosed within a box. Time is read from the top to the bottom of the diagram, with the primordial homodimeric RC at the top and the six known groups of phototrophic prokaryotes, as well as the eukaryotic chloroplast, at the bottom. Abbreviations: OEC, oxygen-evolving center; RC, reaction center; UrRC, original reaction center; Q type, quinone type.

Although ATP synthases are complex machines, the presence of two distinct functional components within ATP synthases (an ionconducting membrane component and an ATP catalytic site) have prompted speculation about how they could have been combined. There is homology between ATPases and hexameric DNA helicases (139). Furthermore, a protein excretion system, T3SS, has been identified that appears to combine aspects of ATP synthase (124) and the flagellar motor of bacteria (137). This observation prompted a hypothesis that the ATP synthase membrane domain originated as a membrane channel that together with the catalytic head functioned first as an RNA translocase and later as a protein translocase (similar to T3SS). Combining membrane and head subunit with a stalk then resulted in the ATP synthase (124).

Light-Harvesting Complexes

LHCs occur in an amazing abundance and variation of structure and cofactors (63). Lightharvesting antenna systems increase the absorption cross-section of RC chlorophylls located in the electron transport core. The known classes of antenna systems represent an extraordinary diversity of protein structure, utilization of pigments, interaction with the RCs, and cellular location. This lack of any recognizable similarity among different classes of light-harvesting systems strongly suggests that they have arisen multiple times during the course of the evolution of photosynthetic organisms, probably as adaptations to different light environments.

Reaction center core antenna family. In FeS-type RCs, the absorption cross-section of the RC core is extended by the core antenna that is fused with the electron transfer core. In cyanobacterial Q-type RCs, this core antenna is split from the electron transfer core (see the section entitled Reaction Centers). The separated protein complex, CP43, has been adapted as Q-type RC light-harvesting systems in prochlorophytes (Pcb) and, under stress conditions, in an FeS-type RC light-harvesting system in cyanobacteria (isiA). IsiA forms a ring that completely encloses the FeS-type RC (13, 19)

Eukaryotic light-harvesting complex family. A probably unrelated line of membranebound LHCs consists of members of a 3 TMH superfamily that includes CAP (chlorophyll a/b proteins in chlorophytes), FCP (fucoxanthin chlorophyll *a/c* proteins in diatoms and phaeophytes), as well as chlorophyll *a-containing* LHCs in some rhodophytes (62). This distribution suggests that the Ur-chloroplast that gave rise to LHC and FCP already contained a 3 TMH light-harvesting protein associated with FeS-type RC, a hypothesis corroborated by the association of LHCs with the PSI in rhodophytes (180). Recent biochemical studies of early, branching chlorophytes (170) are in line with an ancestral association of LHCs with PSI that was extended to PSII to varying degrees in the chlorophytes, with green algae and plants possessing LHCs that can shuttle between PSI and PSII (93).

An evolutionary scenario posits that the three-membrane helix antenna protein family is the result of two consecutive gene duplicationfusion events that started from HLIP-type 1 TMH proteins, giving rise to a 4 TMH PsbSlike protein (102). The present LHCs subsequently lost one helix. This scheme has been extended to also include the 6 TMH Pcb/IsiA protein family (56).

Bacterial light-harvesting family. A third group of membrane-embedded lightharvesting systems that appears to be evolutionarily distinct from those mentioned thus far are the 1 TMH light harvesting (LH) antenna complexes of purple bacteria (34) and filamentous anoxygenic phototrophs (18). LHCs consist of two related, yet distinct 1 TMH proteins that together house two BChl molecules and a carotenoid. Approximately 16 of these LH1 subunits form a large ring that completely encloses the Q-type RC (LH1 ring), and smaller rings consisting of 8-9 LH2 subunits can be located adjacent to

the LH1 ring. Each LH2 subunit complex contains three BChl molecules and one carotenoid The small size of these proteins makes phylogenetic analysis difficult owing to the lack of a robust signal, although it appears that all the LHCs have a single common origin.

Chlorosomes. Chlorosome antenna complexes found in green sulfur bacteria, filamentous anoxygenic prokaryotes, and chloroacidobacteria are different from all other light-harvesting systems, in that most pigments are not bound to proteins. Instead, more than 100,000 molecules (122) of bacteriochlorophyll c,d,e form undulating laminar sheets (144) or rod-shaped aggregates (54) in the presence of carotenoids and quinone. These aggregates are enclosed by a unilayer membrane toward the cytosolic side and a protein array called the baseplate toward the cytoplasmic membraneembedded RCs. In acidobacteria and green sulfur bacteria, the baseplate channels excitation energy to the RC via an FMO-protein [a separate protein family (131)]; in filamentous anoxygenic phototrophs, LHCs connect the RC to the baseplate. The use of chlorosomes as the main light-harvesting system in very basal branches of photosynthetic life appeared as a surprise because the BChls *c*,*d*,*e* that assemble in chlorosomes appear to be very derived (Figure 4). On the other hand, the overall design of chlorosomes is very simple and may lend itself to easy transfer between organisms (77).

Phycobiliproteins. Most rhodophytes, cyanobacteria, and glaucophytes possess proteins (phycobiliproteins) that bind open-chain tetrapyrroles, called bilins (63). Phycobiliproteins form cylindrical structures that can aggregate into fans or domes, funneling light energy to the Q-type RC. Although the primary endosymbiont probably contained phycobilins, they have been lost in several eukaryotic photosynthetic organisms and have been largely replaced by LHC-type light-harvesting complexes. Lumenal light-harvesting systems. The peridinin chlorophyll protein (PCP) is an independent invention of dinoflagellates, employing the carotenoid peridinin in a light-harvesting system enclosed in the lumen of the thylakoids (107). Lumen-located light-harvesting proteins, which are derived from phycobiliproteins, are also found in cryptophytes (176).

What prompted the evolution of such a variety of light-harvesting systems? As with the evolution of pigments, a driving force is certainly niche adaptation for the light environment, available metabolic constraints, and evolutionary history that can lead to the creation of new opportunities, or to LHCs in this case. Extramembranous light-harvesting systems may have an advantage because less membrane lipid has to be synthesized, and the diffusion pathways of mobile electron carriers like guinones and cytochromes can be minimized. However, it could also be argued that well-adapted membrane proteins may aide in restricting and directing mobile cofactors. At first sight, chlorosomes may appear to be very resource efficient because there is no need for additional proteins. However, the low-light niches occupied by green sulfur bacteria and filamentous anoxygenic phototrophs require the synthesis of hundreds of thousands of BChl. Furthermore, the chlorosomes of green sulfur bacteria and filamentous anoxygenic bacteria are incompatible with the presence oxygen, restricting their use. The exclusion of oxygen may have been a driving force for the use of membrane- and protein-embedded light-harvesting systems.

Quinol-Acceptor Oxidoreductase

Electrons generated by Q-type RCs are transferred into a membrane-bound quinone pool (see above). Oxidation of these quinones provides enough energy to translocate several protons across the membrane.

Cytochrome *bc* complex family. A protein conserved across Bacteria and Archaea is the

cytochrome bc_1 complex (163). The central complex (cytochrome b) with features most consistent with the common ancestor of all bctype complexes found today is that found in proteobacteria, including purple bacteria and the mitochondria of eukaryotes, in which it is called Complex III. This protein complex consists of eight TMH that house two hemes catalyzing the oxidation of quinones. Two quinonebinding pockets act in concert with a Rieske protein (a 2 histidine-2 cysteine-2 iron-4 sulfur cluster) to translocate two protons across the membrane for each oxidized quinone. The Rieske iron-sulfur protein is flexible and orchestrates the donation of one electron per oxidized quinone to a cytochrome c_1 ; the second electron stripped from the quinone is donated to an oxidized quinone waiting in the second binding pocket via the two *b*-type hemes. Each quinone oxidized leads to one electron being transferred to cytochrome c_1 and two H⁺ deposited in the luminal or periplasmic space, hence the proton-to-electron ratio of two. The reduced cytochrome c_1 then donates electrons to other electron carriers (a cytochrome in most organisms).

The original eight-transmembrane design has undergone modifications indicative of a succession, with stages represented by green sulfur bacteria, heliobacteria, and cyanobacteria (126). In green sulfur bacteria, the cytochrome b subunit is reduced to a 7 TMH, whereas heliobacteria and cyanobacteria contain a split cytochrome b complex composed of a 4 TMH (cytochrome b_6) and a 3 TMH (complex IV) that contains an additional heme c_i (42, 167). In cyanobacteria, instead of the cytochrome c_1 , the system uses a cytochrome f to interface with either mobile cytochromes or plastocyanin. The structure and sequence of cytochrome f and cytochrome c_1 are very different from each other, with cytochrome fhaving a largely beta-sheet secondary structure unlike any other known cytochrome (reviewed in Reference 9). The evolutionary origin of cytochrome f remains a mystery.

Alternative complex III. Not all photosynthetic organisms utilize a cytochrome bc_1 type complex or derivative thereof for the oxidation of the quinone pool. The filamentous anoxygenic phototrophs exemplified by *Chloroflexus aurantiacus* utilize a fundamentally different type of Quinol-acceptor oxidoreductase that appears to replace the bc_1 complex in many other organisms (55, 181), including the only known photosynthetic acidobacterium (25).

EVOLUTION OF ORGANISM GROUPS

Evolution of Photosynthetic Bacteria

The process of chlorophyll-based photosynthesis almost certainly originated within the bacterial domain, as all known representatives (except eukaryotes, see below) are found in that domain. Cyanobacteria, purple bacteria, and green sulfur bacteria were classified before 1900, whereas the most recent group of photosynthetic organisms has only recently been discovered (24). We now know six broad groups (phyla) that include Chl-containing organisms. These are cyanobacteria, purple bacteria, green sulfur bacteria, filamentous anoxygenic phototrophs, heliobacteria and acidobacteria. There is a very patchy distribution of bacterial groups that is most likely due to a combination of vertical inheritance of the main metabolic capabilities that is complemented by lateral gene transfer events of photosynthetic components (154). The evolutionary diversity of bacterial species is largely covered by section on the RC, bc_1/b_6f complex, light harvesting, and cofactor evolution. A diagram that points out major features of these different classes is included (Figure 9).

Evolution of Photosynthetic Eukaryotes

Endosymbiosis. Schimper (158), Meyer (117), and Mereschkowsky (111, 115) were the first to suggest that the chloroplasts in algae



Figure 9

Photosynthetic machinery and electron transport of photosynthetic bacteria, including a description of photosynthetic complexes. Abbreviations: LH, light harvesting; MQ, menaquinone; PQ, plastoquinone; TCA, tricarboxylic acid; TMH, transmembrane helix(ces); UQ, ubiquinone.

and plants are derived from cyanobacteria. The arrival of electron microscopy and molecular biology provided a wealth of evidence that endosymbiosis gave rise to photosynthetic eukaryotes (110). From an initial and most likely loose coupling of metabolic functions between the two partners, a complete integration has taken place that includes the transfer of most of the genetic information of the cyanobacterium to the eukaryotic host, so that 18% of the nuclear genome of the reference plant *Arabidopsis thaliana* shows signs of cyanobacterial origin (112).

So far we know of three distinct ancient lines of photosynthetic eukaryotes: glaucophytes, rhodophytes, and chlorophytes. There remains uncertainty over whether these groups are the result of single (138) or possibly separate (82, 99) ancient, endosymbiotic events occurring possibly more than 1 Gya (41). Each photosynthetic group carries evidence of its cyanobacterial origin to various degrees. All are oxygenic phototrophs with an electron transport chain characteristic of cyanobacteria, including a cytochrome $b_6 f$ complex. One line (glaucophytes) still retains a cyanobacterial peptidoglycan cell wall (142) and carboxysomes within the host cell. Green algae and its progeny lost the cyanobacterial phycobilisome light-harvesting system, whereas red algae (rhodpohytes) and glaucophytes retained it.

Why only oxygen-producers have been recruited as photosynthetic endosymbiotic

partners is another critical question about endosymbiosis. Surely, fixed carbon provided by a green sulfur bacterium would be a valuable resource in the right environment. Chemosynthetic endosymbiotic relationships are likely to exist in black smoker environments (166) that may also house green sulfur bacteria (8).

Multiple endosymbiotic events. Current thinking [summarized by Keeling (95)] (**Figure 10**) states that much of the diversity found in algae is due to secondary and tertiary endosymbiotic events, in which a photosynthetic eukaryote was incorporated into another eukaryote. A secondary symbiosis is assumed to have given rise to euglenoids (derived from a chlorophyte eukaryote) as well as to cryptomonads, haptophytes, stramenopiles, ciliates, apicomplexans, and dinoflagellates (all of which are derived from a rhodophyte).

A serial secondary endosymbiosis of green algae is thought to result in *Lepidodinum*. Tertiary endosymbiosis gave rise to *Durinskia* (incorporating a dinoflagellate-type organism), *Karlodinum* (incorporating a haptophyte-type organism), and algae belonging to the genus *Dinophysis* (incorporating a cryptophyte-type organism).

Recent endosymbiotic event. Excitement has been generated by the discovery of a more recent endosymbiotic event that gave rise to *Paulinella chromatophora* and close relatives

Figure 10

Schematic view of plastid evolution in the history of eukaryotes. The various endosymbiotic events that gave rise to the current diversity and distribution of plastids involve divergences and reticulations whose complexity has come to resemble an electronic circuit diagram. Endosymbiosis events are boxed, and the lines are colored to distinguish lineages with no plastid (*grey*), plastids from the green algal lineage (*green*), or the red algal lineage (*red*). At the bottom is the single primary endosymbiosis leading to three lineages (glaucophytes, red algae, and green algae). On the lower right, a discrete secondary endosymbiotic event within the euglenids led to their plastid. On the lower left, a red alga was taken up in the ancestor of chromalveolates. From this ancestor, haptophytes and cryptomonads (as well as their nonphotosynthetic relatives like katablepharids and telonemids) first diverged. After the divergence of the rhizarian lineage, the plastid appears to have been lost, but in two subgroups of Rhizaria, photosynthesis was regained: the chlorarachniophytes by secondary endosymbiosis with a green alga and the *Paulinella* by taking up a cyanobacterium (many other rhizarian lineages remain nonphotosynthetic. At the top left, the stramenopiles diverged from alveolates, where plastid swere lost in ciliates and predominantly became nonphotosynthetic in the apicomplexan lineage. At the top right, four different events of plastid replacement are shown in dinoflagellates, involving a diatom, haptophyte, cryptomonad (three cases of tertiary endosymbiosis), and green alga (a serial secondary endosymbiosis). Most of the lineages shown have many members or relatives that are nonphotosynthetic, but these have not all been shown for the sake of clarity. Figure and caption reproduced with permission by The Royal Society from Reference 95 (figure 2).



(127). Evidence for a late endosymbiotic event that gave rise to this "chromatophore" termed cyan-colored endosymbiont is seen in how closely related they are to living *Prochlorococcus/Synechococcus* of the α -cyanobacteria clade (compared with the relatedness of plastids to the β -cyanobacterial clade) and that there are very few photosynthetic members of an otherwise nonphotosynthetic group of Cercozoan amoebae.

Photosynthesis lost. The ancestors of some human parasites that include *Plasmodium falciparum* and *Toxoplasma gondii* were once photosynthetic, indicated by the presence of a rudimentary chloroplast, the apicoplast. A missing link between these apicomplexans and their photosynthetic past has recently emerged. The alga *Chromera velia* (123) is closely related to apicomplexans but contains a fully functional chloroplast. Genetic analysis of this alga supports a direct linear descent of apicomplexans, dinoflagellates, and *Chromera velia*–related algae from a single red algal ancestor (88).

PERSPECTIVE

Genomic information is a rich resource that contains the life story of photosynthesis in a multilayer, encrypted form. To unlock this story, however, requires the context provided by complementary data from other disciplines. Genomic data can be the basis of tantalizing ideas and correlations, but experimental followup is required. Together, these data give us an inventory of today's living world so that we can proceed in exploring the past.

Billions of years of trial and error are contained within each organism that we have the privilege to investigate today. Looking at this diversity, we can be sure that all the failures have been weeded out and we are "face to culture flask" with the organisms that stood the test of time. We have to resist the temptation to classify features as either primitive or more advanced. Understanding the evolutionary constraints imposed on bioenergetic systems is not only an intellectual pursuit but may be a key to unlock our energy future.

SUMMARY POINTS

- 1. A multidisciplinary approach is revealing the main aspects of the evolution of photosynthesis.
- 2. Geologic evidence points to carbon fixation as having occurred very early in Earth's history.
- Photosynthetically produced oxygen induced geological features and changed cellular physiology fundamentally.
- 4. Photosynthetic bacteria are the result of a complex evolution involving lateral gene transfer of photosynthetic components.
- 5. It is not quite certain whether the evolution of glaucophytes, rhodophytes, and chlorophytes is the result of a single endosymbiotic event.

FUTURE ISSUES

- 1. Was the last common ancestor photosynthetic?
- 2. Was the first type of RC a Q-type RC, an FeS-type RC, or a bifunctional RC?

- 3. Did the evolution of the RCs required for oxygenic photosynthesis take place in a single cell?
- 4. Are there undiscovered types of photosynthesis and photosynthetic organisms present on Earth?
- 5. What are the evolutionary origin and history of photosynthetic components?

DISCLOSURE STATEMENT

The authors are not aware of any affiliations, memberships, funding, or financial holdings that might be perceived as affecting the objectivity of this review.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

M.F.H.-M. acknowledges financial support through the New Zealand Foundation for Research, Science and Technology Postdoctoral Fellowship program. R.E.B. acknowledges continuing support from the Exobiology program of the National Aeronautics and Space Administration.

LITERATURE CITED

- Abramov O, Mojzsis SJ. 2009. Microbial habitability of the Hadean Earth during the late heavy bombardment. *Nature* 459:419–22
- 2. Allen JF, Martin W. 2007. Evolutionary biology: out of thin air. Nature 445:610-12
- Amunts A, Toporik H, Borovikova A, Nelson N. 2010. Structure determination and improved model of plant photosystem I. *J. Biol. Chem.* 285:3478–86
- 4. Anders E. 1989. Pre-biotic organic matter from comets and asteroids. Nature 342:255-57
- Balashov SP, Imasheva ES, Boichenko VA, Antón J, Wang JM, Lanyi JK. 2005. Xanthorhodopsin: a proton pump with a light-harvesting carotenoid antenna. *Science* 309:2061–64
- Baymann F, Lebrun E, Brugna M, Schoepp-Cothenet B, Giudici-Orticoni MT, Nitschke W. 2003. The redox protein construction kit: pre–last universal common ancestor evolution of energy-conserving enzymes. *Philos. Trans. R. Soc. Lond. B* 358:267–74
- 7. Beale SI. 1999. Enzymes of chlorophyll biosynthesis. Photosynth. Res. 6:43-73
- Beatty JT, Overmann J, Lince MT, Manske AK, Lang AS, et al. 2005. An obligately photosynthetic bacterial anaerobe from a deep-sea hydrothermal vent. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 102:9306–10
- 9. Bendall DS. 2004. The unfinished story of cytochrome f. Photosynth. Res. 80:265-76
- Beja O, Aravind L, Koonin EV, Suzuki MT, Hadd A, et al. 2000. Bacterial rhodopsin: evidence for a new type of phototrophy in the sea. *Science* 289:1902–6
- 11. Deleted in proof
- 12. Berner RA. 1999. Atmospheric oxygen over Phanerozoic time. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 96:10955-57
- Bibby TS, Nield J, Barber J. 2001. Iron deficiency induces the formation of an antenna ring around trimeric photosystem I in cyanobacteria. *Nature* 412:743–45
- 14. Blankenship RE. 1992. Origin and early evolution of photosynthesis. Photosynth. Res. 33:91-111
- 15. Blankenship RE. 2001. Molecular evidence for the evolution of photosynthesis. Trends Plant Sci. 6:4-6
- 16. Blankenship RE. 2010. Early evolution of photosynthesis. Plant Physiol. 154:434-38
- Blankenship RE, Hartman H. 1998. The origin and evolution of oxygenic photosynthesis. *Trends Biochem. Sci.* 23:94–97
- Blankenship RE, Matsuura K. 2003. Antenna complexes from green bacteria. In *Light-Harvesting Antennas in Photosynthesis*, ed. LR Green, WW Parson, pp. 195–217. Nether.: Kluwer
- Boekema EJ, Hifney A, Yakushevska AE, Piotrowski M, Keegstra W, et al. 2001. A giant chlorophyll– protein complex induced by iron deficiency in cyanobacteria. *Nature* 412:745–48

- Brasier MD, Green OR, Jephcoat AP, Kleppe AK, Van Kranendonk MJ, et al. 2002. Questioning the evidence for Earth's oldest fossils. *Nature* 416:76–81
- Brochier-Armanet C, Talla E, Gribaldo S. 2009. The multiple evolutionary histories of dioxygen reductases: implications for the origin and evolution of aerobic respiration. *Mol. Biol. Evol.* 26:285–97
- Brocks JJ, Love GD, Summons RE, Knoll AH, Logan GA, Bowden SA. 2005. Biomarker evidence for green and purple sulphur bacteria in a stratified Palaeoproterozoic sea. *Nature* 437:866–70
- Bryant DA, Frigaard N-U. 2006. Prokaryotic photosynthesis and phototrophy illuminated. *Trends Microbiol.* 14:488–96
- Bryant DA, Garcia Costas AM, Maresca JA, Chew AGM, Klatt CG, et al. 2007. Candidates Chloracidobacterium thermophilum: an aerobic phototrophic acidobacterium. Science 317:523–26
- 25. Bryant DA, Klatt CG, Frigaard N-U, Liu Z, Li T, et al. 2011. Comparative and functional genomics of anoxygenic green bacteria from the taxa Chlorobi, Chloroflexi, and Acidobacteria. In *Functional Genomics* and Evolution of Photosynthetic Systems, Advances in Photosynthesis and Respiration, Vol. 33, ed. RL Burnap, W Vermaas. Nether.: Springer. In press
- 26. Buick R. 2006. When did oxygenic photosynthesis evolve? Philos. Trans. R. Soc. Lond. B 363:2731-43
- Butterfield NJ. 2000. Bangiomorpha pubescens n. gen., n. sp.: implications for the evolution of sex, multicellularity, and the Mesoproterozoic/Neoproterozoic radiation of eukaryotes. Paleobiology 26:386–404
- Canfield DE, Habicht KS, Thamdrup B. 2000. The Archean sulfur cycle and the early history of atmospheric oxygen. *Science* 288:658–61
- Canfield DE, Rosing MT, Bjerrum C. 2006. Early anaerobic metabolisms. *Philos. Trans. R. Soc. Lond. B* 361:1819–34
- Cavalier-Smith T. 2006. Cell evolution and Earth history: stasis and revolution. *Philos. Trans. R. Soc. Lond. B* 361:969–1006
- Chen M, Schliep M, Willows RD, Cai Z-L, Neilan BA, Scheer H. 2010. A red-shifted chlorophyll. Science 329:1318–19
- Chew AGM, Bryant DA. 2007. Chlorophyll biosynthesis in bacteria: the origins of structural and functional diversity. *Annu. Rev. Microbiol.* 61:113–29
- Clausen J, Junge W, Dau H, Haumann M. 2005. Photosynthetic water oxidation at high O₂ backpressure monitored by delayed chlorophyll fluorescence. *Biochemistry* 44:12775–79
- Cogdell RJ, Gardiner AT, Roszak AW, Law CJ, Southall J, Isaacs NW. 2004. Rings, ellipses and horseshoes: how purple bacteria harvest solar energy. *Photosynth. Res.* 81:207–14
- Cronin JR, Pizzarello S, Cruikshank DP. 1988. Organic matter in carbonaceous chondrites, planetary satellites, asteroids and comets. In *Meteorites and the Early Solar System*, ed. JF Kerridge, MS Matthews, pp. 819–57. Tucson: Univ. Ariz. Press
- Dähnhardt D, Falk J, Appel J, van der Kooij TA, Schulz-Friedrich R, Krupinska K. 2002. The hydroxyphenylpyruvate dioxygenase from *Synechocystis* sp. PCC 6803 is not required for plastoquinone biosynthesis. *FEBS Lett.* 523:177–81
- Deisenhofer J, Michel H. 1991. Structures of bacterial photosynthetic reaction centers. Annu. Rev. Cell Biol. 7:1–23
- Dekker JP, Boekema EJ. 2005. Supermolecular organization of the thylakoid membrane proteins in green plants. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 1706: 12–39
- DeLong EF, Béjà O. 2010. The light-driven proton pump proteorhodopsin enhances bacterial survival during tough times. *PLoS Biol.* 8:4 e1000359
- 40. Dietrich LEP, Tice M, Newman DK. 2006. The co-evolution of life and earth. Curr. Biol. 16:R395-400
- Douzery EJ, Snell EA, Bapteste E, Delsuc F, Philippe H. 2004. The timing of eukaryotic evolution: Does a relaxed molecular clock reconcile proteins and fossils? *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 101:15386–91
- Ducluzeau AL, Chenu E, Capowiez L, Baymann F. 2008. The Rieske/cytochrome b complex of Heliobacteria. Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1777:1140–46
- Duval S, Ducluzeau AL, Nitschke W, Schoepp-Cothenet B. 2008. Enzyme phylogenies as markers for the oxidation state of the environment: the case of respiratory arsenate reductase and related enzymes. BMC Evol. Biol. 8:206

- Ermler U, Fritzsch G, Buchanan SK, Michel H. 1994. Structure of the photosynthetic reaction centre from *Rhodobacter sphaeroides* at 2.65 Å resolution: cofactors and protein-cofactor interactions. *Structure* 2:925–36
- Ettwig KF, Butler MK, Le Paslier D, Pelletier E, Mangenot S, et al. 2010. Nitrite-driven anaerobic methane oxidation by oxygenic bacteria. *Nature* 464:543–48
- Falkowski PG, Godfrey LV. 2008. Electrons, life and the evolution of Earth's oxygen cycle. *Philos. Trans. R. Soc. Lond. B* 363:2705–16
- Fani R, Gallo R, Liò P. 2000. Molecular evolution of nitrogen fixation: the evolutionary history of the nifD, nifK, nifE, and nifN genes. *J. Mol. Evol.* 51:1–11
- Farquhar J, Peters M, Johnston DT, Strauss H, Masterson A, et al. 2007. Isotopic evidence for Mesoarchaean anoxia and changing atmospheric sulphur chemistry. *Nature* 449:706–9
- 49. Fontecave M. 2006. Iron-sulfur clusters: ever-expanding roles. Nat. Chem. Biol. 2:171-74
- Fontecave M, Ollagnier-de-Choudens S. 2008. Iron-sulfur cluster biosynthesis in bacteria: mechanisms of cluster assembly and transfer. Arch. Biochem. Biophys. 474:226–37
- Frei R, Gaucher C, Poulton SW, Canfield DE. 2009. Fluctuations in Precambrian atmospheric oxygenation recorded by chromium isotopses. *Nature* 461:250–53
- Frigaard N-U, Martinez A, Mincer TJ, DeLong EF. 2006. Proteorhodopsin lateral gene transfer between marine planktonic Bacteria and Archaea. *Nature* 439:847–50
- Frigaard N-U, Takaichi S, Hirota M, Shimada K, Matsuura K. 1997. Quinones in chlorosomes of green sulfur bacteria and their role in the redox-dependent flsuorescence studied in chlorosome-like bacteriochlorophyll c aggregates. Arch. Microbiol. 167:343–49
- Ganapathy S, Oostergetel GT, Wawrzyniak PK, Reus M, Gomez Maqueo Chew A, et al. 2009. Alternating syn-anti bacteriochlorophylls form concentric helical nanotubes in chlorosomes. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 106:8525–30
- Gao X, Yin Y, Blankenship RE. 2009. Enzymatic activity of the alternative complex III as a menaquinol: auracyanin oxidoreductase in the electron transfer chain of *Chloroflexus aurantiacus*. FEBS Lett. 583:3275– 79
- Garczarek L, Poupon A, Partensky F. 2003. Origin and evolution of transmembrane Chl-binding proteins: hydrophobic cluster analysis suggests a common one-helix ancestor for prokaryotic (Pcb) and eukaryotic (LHC) antenna protein superfamilies. *FEMS Microbiol. Lett.* 222:59–68
- Gaucher EA, Thomson JM, Burgan MF, Benner SA. 2003. Inferring the palaeoenvironment of ancient bacteria on the basis of resurrected proteins. *Nature* 425:285–88
- 58. Gensel PG. 2008. The earliest land plants. Annu. Rev. Ecol. Evol. Syst. 39:459-77
- Godfrey LV, Falkowski PG. 2009. The cycling and redox state of nitrogen in the Archaean ocean. Nat. Geosci. 2:725–29
- Gómez-Consarnau L, González JM, Coll-Lladó M, Gourdon P, Pascher T, et al. 2007. Light stimulates growth of proteorhodopsin-containing marine Flavobacteria. *Nature* 445:210–13
- Granick S. 1965. Evolution of heme and chlorophyll. In *Evolving Genes and Proteins*, ed. V Bryson, HJ Vogel, pp. 67–88. New York: Academic
- 62. Gray J. 1985. The microfossil record of early land plants: advances in understanding of early terrestrialization, 1970–1984. *Philos. Trans. R. Soc. Lond. B* 309:1934–90
- Green BR, Parson WW, eds. 2003. Advances in Photosynthesis and Respiration: Light-Harvesting Antennas in Photosynthesis, Vol. 13. Nether.: Springer. 544 pp.
- 64. Griesbeck C, Schütz M, Schödl T, Bathe S, Nausch L, et al. 2002. Mechanism of sulfide-quinone reductase investigated using site-directed mutagenesis and sulfur analysis. *Biochemistry* 41:11552–65
- Griffiths G. 2007. Cell evolution and the problem of membrane topology. Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell. Biol. 8:1018–24
- Grimm B, Porra RJ, Rüdiger W, Scheer H, eds. 2006. Advances in Photosynthesis and Respiration: Chlorophylls and Bacteriochlorophylls, Vol. 25. Nether.: Springer. 603 pp.
- Grotzinger JP, Knoll AH. 1999. Stromatolites in precambrian carbonates: Evolutionary mileposts or environmental dipsticks? *Annu. Rev. Earth Planet. Sci.* 27:313–58
- 68. Gupta RS. 2003. Evolutionary relationships among photosynthetic bacteria. Photosynth. Res. 76:173-83

- Guskov A, Kern J, Gabdulkhakov A, Broser M, Zouni A, Saenger W. 2009. Cyanobacterial photosystem II at 2.9-Å resolution and the role of quinones, lipids, channels and chloride. *Nat. Struct. Mol. Biol.* 16:334–42
- Haldane JBS. 1929 (1994). The origin of life. In Origins of Life: The Central Concepts, ed. DW Deamer, GR Fleischaker, pp. 73–81. Boston, MA: Jones & Barlett
- Hall DO, Cammack R, Rao KK. 1971. Role for ferredoxins in the origin of life and biological evolution. *Nature* 233:136–38
- Harms MJ, Thornton JW. 2010. Analyzing protein structure and function using ancestral gene reconstruction. Curr. Opin. Struct. Biol. 20:360–66
- Harrison JF, Kaiser A, VandenBrooks JM. 2010. Atmospheric oxygen level and the evolution of insect body size. *Philos. Trans. R. Soc. Lond. B* 277:1937–46
- Hayes JM, Waldbauer JR. 2006. The carbon cycle and associated redox processes through time. *Philos. Trans. R. Soc. Lond. B* 361:931–50
- 75. Heinnickel M, Golbeck JH. 2007. Heliobacterial photosynthesis. Photosynth. Res. 92:35-53
- Heising S, Richter L, Ludwig W, Schink B. 1999. *Chlorobium ferrooxidans* sp. nov., a phototrophic green sulfur bacterium that oxidizes ferrous iron in coculture with a "Geospirillum" sp. strain. *Arch. Microbiol.* 172:116–24
- Hohmann-Marriott MF, Blankenship RE. 2007. Hypothesis on the biogenesis of chlorosomes in green photosynthetic bacteria. FEBS Lett. 581:800–3
- Hohmann-Marriott MF, Blankenship RE. 2008. Anoxygenic type I photosystems and evolution of photosynthetic reaction centers. In *Photosynthetic Protein Complexes*, ed. P. Fromme, pp. 295–324. Weinheim, Ger.: Wiley-VCH
- Hohmann-Marriott MF, Takizawa K, Eaton-Rye JJ, Mets L, Minagawa J. 2010. The redox state of the plastoquinone pool directly modulates chlorophyll fluorescence in *Chlamydomonas reinhardtii*. FEBS Lett. 584:1021–26
- Holland HD. 2006. The oxygenation of the atmosphere and oceans. *Philos. Trans. R. Soc. Lond. B* 361:903–15
- 81. Horowitz NJ. 1945. On the evolution of biochemical synthesis. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 31:153-57
- Howe CJ, Barbrook AC, Nisbet RER, Lockhart PJ, Larkum AWD. 2008. The origin of plastids. *Philos. Trans. R. Soc. Lond. B* 363:2675–85
- Huber C, Wächtershäuser G. 1997. Activated acetic acid by carbon fixation on (Fe,Ni)S under primordial conditions. Science 276:245–47
- 84. Hurles M. 2004. Gene duplication: the genomic trade in spare parts. PLoS Biol. 2:900-4
- Igarashi N, Harada J, Nagashima S, Matsuura K, Shimada K, Nagashima KV. 2001. Horizontal transfer of the photosynthesis gene cluster and operon rearrangement in purple bacteria. *J. Mol. Evol.* 52:333–41
- Ihara K, Umemura T, Katagiri I, Kitajima-Ihara T, Sugiyama Y, et al. 1999. Evolution of the archaeal rhodopsins: evolution rate changes by gene duplication and functional differentiation. *J. Mol. Biol.* 285:163–74
- Isley AE, Abbott DH. 1999. Plume-related mafic volcanism and the deposition of banded iron formation. *J. Geophys. Res.* 104:15461–77
- Janouskovec J, Horák A, Oborník M, Lukes J, Keeling PJ. 2010. A common red algal origin of the apicomplexan, dinoflagellate, and heterokont plastids. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 107:10949–54
- 89. Jensen RA 1976. Enzyme recruitment in evolution of new function. Annu. Rev. Microbiol. 30:409-25
- Johnson DC, Dean DR, Smith AD, Johnson MK. 2005. Structure, function, and formation of biological iron-sulfur clusters. *Annu. Rev. Biochem.* 74:247–81
- Johnson TW, Shen G, Zybailov B, Kolling D, Reategui R, et al. 2000. Recruitment of a foreign quinone into the A1 site of photosystem I: I. Genetic and physiological characterization of phylloquinone biosynthetic pathway mutants in *Synechocystis* sp. PCC 6803. *J. Biol. Chem.* 275:8523–30
- Johnston DT, Wolfe-Simon F, Pearson A, Knoll AH. 2009. Anoxygenic photosynthesis modulated Proterozoic oxygen and sustained Earth's middle age. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 106:16925–29
- Kargul J, Barber J. 2008. Photosynthetic acclimation: structural reorganisation of light harvesting antenna—role of redox-dependent phosphorylation of major and minor chlorophyll *a/b* binding proteins. *FEBS 7.* 275:1056–68

- 94. Keeling PJ. 2004. Diversity and evolutionary history of plastids and their hosts. Am. J. Bot. 91:1481-89
- Keeling PJ. 2010. The endosymbiotic origin, diversification and fate of plastids. *Philos. Trans. R. Soc. Lond. B* 365:729–48
- Kiang N, Siefert J, Govindjee, Blankenship RE. 2007. Spectral signatures of photosynthesis. I. Review of earth organisms. *Astrobiology* 7:222–51
- Lane N, Allen JF, Martin W. 2010. How did LUCA make a living? Chemiosmosis in the origin of life. BioEssays 32:271–80
- Larkum AWD. 2006. The evolution of chlorophylls and photosynthesis. In Chlorophylls and Bacteriochlorophylls, Advances in Photosynthesis and Respiration, pp. 261–82. Nether.: Springer
- 99. Larkum AWD, Lockhart PJ, Howe CJ. 2007. Shopping for plastids. Trends Plant Sci. 12:189-95
- Lebrun E, Santini JM, Brugna M, Ducluzeau AL, Ouchane S, et al. 2006. The Rieske protein: a case study on the pitfalls of multiple sequence alignments and phylogenetic reconstruction. *Mol. Biol. Evol.* 23:1180–91
- Lepot K, Benzerara K, Brown GE, Philippot P. 2008. Microbially influenced formation of 2,724-millionyear-old stromatolites. *Nat. Geosci.* 1:118–21
- Li X-P, Phippard A, Pasari J, Niyogi KK. 2002. Structure-function analysis of Photosystem II subunit S (PsbS) in vivo. *Funct. Plant Biol.* 29:1131–39
- Lill R, Mühlenhoff U. 2006. Iron-sulfur protein biogenesis in eukaryotes: components and mechanisms. Annu. Rev. Cell. Dev. Biol. 22:457–86
- Lin LH, Wang P-L, Rumble D, Lippmann J, Boice E, et al. 2006. Long-term sustainability of a high energy, low diversity crustal biome. *Science* 314:479–82
- Lindell D, Jaffe JD, Johnson ZI, Church GM, Chisholm SW. 2005. Photosynthesis genes in marine viruses yield proteins during host infection. *Nature* 438:86–89
- 106. Lovelock JE. 1965. A physical basis for life detection experiments. Nature 207:568-70
- Macpherson AN, Hiller RG. 2003. Light-harvesting systems in chlorophyll c-containing algae. In Light-Harvesting Antennas in Photosynthesis, ed. LR Green, WW Parson, pp. 323–52. Nether.: Kluwer
- Mann NH, Cook A, Millard A, Bailey S, Clokie M. 2003. Marine ecosystems: bacterial photosynthesis genes in a virus. *Nature* 424:741
- Manning CE, Mojzsis SJ, Harrison TM. 2006. Geology, age and origin of supracrustal rocks at Akilia, West Greenland. Am. J. Sci. 306:303–66
- 110. Margulis L. 1992. Symbiosis in Cell Evolution. San Francisco: Freeman
- 111. Martin W, Kowallik KV. 1999. Annotated English translation of Mereschkowsky's 1905 paper 'Über Natur und Ursprung der Chromatophoren im Pflanzenreiche'. *Eur. J. Phycol.* 34:287–95
- 112. Martin W, Rujan T, Richly E, Hansen A, Cornelsen S, et al. 2002. Evolutionary analysis of *Arabidopsis*, cyanobacterial, and chloroplast genomes reveals plastid phylogeny and thousands of cyanobacterial genes in the nucleus. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 99:12246–51
- Mathis P. 1990. Compared structure of plant and bacterial photosynthetic reaction centers. Evolutionary implications. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 1018:163–67
- 114. Mauzerall D. 1992. Light, iron, Sam Granick, and the origin of life. Photosynth. Res. 33:163-70
- 115. McCollom TM, Seewald JS. 2006. Carbon isotope composition of organic compounds produced by abiotic synthesis under hydrothermal conditions. *Earth Planet Sci. Lett.* 243:74–84
- Mereschkowsky C. 1905. Über Natur und Ursprung der Chromatophoren im Pflanzenreiche. Biol. Centralbl. 25:593–604
- Meyer A. 1883. Über krystalloide der trophoplasten and über die chromoplasten der angiospermen. *Bot. Zeit.* 39:841–46, 857–64
- 118. Michal G. 1999. Biochemical Pathways: An Atlas of Biochemistry and Molecular Biology. New York: Wiley
- Mitchell P. 1961. Coupling of phosphorylation to electron and hydrogen transfer by a chemi-osmotic type of mechanism. *Nature* 191:144–48
- Mitchell P. 1972. Chemiosmotic coupling in energy transduction: a logical development of biochemical knowledge. *J. Bioenerg. Biomembr.* 3:5–24
- 121. Mohr H, Schopfer P. 1992. Lehrbuch der Pflanzenphysiologie. Berlin: Springer. 4th ed.

- 122. Montaño GA, Bowen BP, LaBelle JT, Woodbury NW, Pizziconi VB, Blankenship RE. 2003. Characterization of *Chlorobium tepidum* chlorosomes: a calculation of bacteriochlorophyll *c* per chlorosome and oligomer modeling. *Biophys. J.* 85:2560–65
- 123. Moore RB, Oborník M, Janouskovec J, Chrudimský T, Vancová M, et al. 2008. A photosynthetic alveolate closely related to apicomplexan parasites. *Nature* 451:959–63
- Mulkidjanian AY, Makarova KS, Galperin MY, Koonin EV. 2007. Inventing the dynamo machine: on the origin of the F-type and V-type membrane ATPases from membrane RNA/protein translocases. *Nat. Rev. Microbiol.* 5:892–99
- 125. Müller MG, Slavov C, Luthra R, Redding KE, Holzwarth AR. 2010. Independent initiation of primary electron transfer in the two branches of the photosystem I reaction center. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 107:4123–28
- Nitschke W, van Lis R, Schoepp-Cothenet B, Baymann F. 2010. The "green" phylogenetic clade of Rieske/cyt b complexes. Photosynth. Res. 104:347–55
- 127. Nowack EC, Melkonian M, Glöckner G. 2008. Chromatophore genome sequence of *Paulinella* sheds light on acquisition of photosynthesis by eukaryotes. *Curr. Biol.* 25:410–18
- Nowicka B, Kruk J. 2010. Occurrence, biosynthesis and function of isoprenoid quinones. *Biochim Biophys.* Acta 1797:1587–605
- 129. Ohashi S, Iemura T, Okada N, Itoh S, Furukawa H, et al. 2010. An overview on chlorophylls and quinones in the photosystem I-type reaction centers. *Photosynth. Res.* 104:305–19
- 130. Olson JM. 1970. Evolution of photosynthesis. Science 168:438-46
- 131. Olson JM. 2004. The FMO protein. Photosynth. Res. 80:181-87
- Olson JM, Blankenship RE. 2004. Thinking about the evolution of photosynthesis. *Photosynth. Res.* 80:373–86
- Olson JM, Pierson BK. 1987. Evolution of reaction centers in photosynthetic prokaryotes. Int. Rev. Cytol. 108:209–48
- Olson JM, Pierson BK. 1987. Origin and evolution of photosynthetic reaction centers. Orig. Life 17:419– 30
- Oparin AI. 1924. Proiskhodenie zhizny. Moscovky rabotchii, Mockba. 1994. In Origins of Life: The Central Concepts. Transl. ed. DW Deamer, GR Fleischaker, pp. 31–71. Boston: Jones & Barlett
- Ouchane S, Steunou AS, Picaud M, Astier C. 2004. Aerobic and anaerobic Mg-protoporphyrin monomethyl ester cyclases in purple bacteria: a strategy adopted to bypass the repressive oxygen control system. *J. Biol. Chem.* 279:6385–94
- Pallen MJ, Matzke NJ. 2006. From *The Origin of Species* to the origin of bacterial flagella. *Nat. Rev. Microbiol.* 4:784–90
- Palmer JD. 2003. The symbiotic birth and spread of plastids: How many times and whodunit? *J. Pbycol.* 39:4–11
- 139. Patel SS, Picha KM. 2000. Structure and function of hexameric helicases. Annu. Rev. Biochem. 69:651-97
- 140. Pennisi E. 2001. Genome duplications: the stuff of evolution? Science 294:2458-60
- Pessiki PJ, Dismukes GC. 1994. Structural and functional models of the dimanganese catalase enzymes.
 Kinetics and mechanism of hydrogen peroxide dismutation. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* 116:898–903
- Pfanzagl B, Zenker A, Pittenauer E, Allmaier G, Martinez-Torrecuadrada J, et al. 1996. Primary structure of cyanelle peptidoglycan of *Cyanophora paradoxa*: a prokaryotic cell wall as part of an organelle envelope. *J. Bacteriol.* 178:332–39
- Pinti DL, Mineau R, Clement V. 2009. Hydrothermal alteration and microfossil artifacts of the 3,465million-year-old Apex chert. *Nat. Geosci.* 2:640–43
- 144. Psencik J, Ikonen TP, Laurinmaki P, Merckel MC, Butcher SJ, et al. 2004. Lamellar organization of pigments in chlorosomes, the light harvesting system of green bacteria. *Biophys. J.* 87:1165–72
- Raghoebarsing AA, Pol A, van de Pas-Schoonen KT, Smolders AJP, Ettwig KF, et al. 2006. A microbial consortium couples anaerobic methane oxidation to denitrification. *Nature* 440:918–21
- 146. Rashby SE, Sessions AL, Summons RE, Newman DK. 2007. Biosynthesis of 2methylbacteriohopanepolyols by an anoxygenic phototroph. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 104:15099–104
- Raven JA. 2009. Functional evolution of photochemical energy transformations in oxygen-producing organisms. *Funct. Plant. Biol.* 36:505–15

- Raymond J, Blankenship RE. 2003. Horizontal gene transfer in eukaryotic algal evolution. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 100:7419–20
- Raymond J, Blankenship RE. 2004. Biosynthetic pathways, gene replacement and the antiquity of life. Geobiology 2:199–203
- Raymond J, Blankenship RE. 2004. The evolutionary development of the protein complement of photosystem 2. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 1655:133–39
- 151. Raymond J, Blankenship RE. 2008. The origin of the oxygen-evolving complex. Coord. Chem. Rev. 252:377-83
- Raymond J, Segrè D. 2006. The effect of oxygen on biochemical networks and the evolution of complex life. Science 311:1764–67
- Raymond J, Siefert JL, Staples CR, Blankenship RE. 2004. The natural history of nitrogen fixation. *Mol. Biol. Evol.* 21:541–54
- Raymond J, Zhaxybayeva O, Gogarten JP, Gerdes SY, Blankenship RE. 2002. Whole-genome analysis of photosynthetic prokaryotes. *Science* 298:1616–20
- 155. Sadekar S, Raymond J, Blankenship RE. 2006. Conservation of distantly related membrane proteins: photosynthetic reaction centers share a common structural core. *Mol. Biol. Evol.* 23:2001–7
- 156. Sattley WM, Madigan MT, Swingley WD, Cheung PC, Clocksin KM, et al. 2008. The genome of *Heliobacterium modesticaldum*, a phototrophic representative of the Firmicutes containing the simplest photosynthetic apparatus. *J. Bacteriol.* 190:4687–96
- Schidlowsky M. 1988. A 3,800-million-year isotopic record of life from carbon in sedimentary rocks. Nature 333:313–18
- Schimper AFW. 1883. Über die Entwicklung der Chlorophyllkörner and Farbkörper. Bot. Zeit. 41:105– 114, 121–31, 137–46, 153–62
- 159. Schliep M, Crossett B, Willows RD, Chen M. 2010. ¹⁸O labeling of chlorophyll d in Acaryochloris marina reveals that chlorophyll a and molecular oxygen are precursors. J. Biol. Chem. 285:28450–56
- Schoepp-Cothenet B, Lieutaud C, Baymann F, Verméglio A, Friedrich T, et al. 2009. Menaquinone as pool quinone in a purple bacterium. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 106:8549–54
- Schopf JW. 1993. Microfossils of the Early Archaean Apex chert: new evidence of the antiquity of life. Science 260:640–46
- 162. Schopf JW. 2006. Fossil evidence for Arcahean life. Philos. Trans. R. Soc. Lond. B 361:869-85
- Schütz M, Brugna M, Lebrun E, Baymann F, Huber R, et al. 2000. Early evolution of cytochrome b/c complexes. J. Mol. Biol. 300:663–75
- Sharma AK, Spudich JL, Doolittle WF. 2006. Microbial rhodopsins: functional versatility and genetic mobility. *Trends Microbiol.* 14:463–69
- 165. Sharon I, Alperovitch A, Rohwer F, Haynes M, Glaser F, et al. 2009. Photosystem I gene cassettes are present in marine virus genomes. *Nature* 461:258–62
- Stewart FJ, Newton IL, Cavanaugh CM. 2005. Chemosynthetic endosymbioses: adaptations to oxicanoxic interfaces. *Trends Microbiol.* 13:439–48
- 167. Stroebel D, Choquet Y, Popot J-L, Picot D. 2003. An atypical haem in the cytochrome b₆f complex. Nature 426:413–18
- Summons RE, Jahnke LL, Hope JM, Logan GA. 1999. 2-Methylhopanoids as biomarkers for cyanobacterial oxygenic photosynthesis. *Nature* 400:554–57
- Swingley WD, Chen M, Cheung PC, Conrad AL, Dejesa LC, et al. 2008. Niche adaptation and genome expansion in the chlorophyll *d*–producing cyanobacterium *Acaryochloris marina*. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 105:2005–10
- 170. Swingley WD, Iwai M, Chen Y, Ozawa S, Takizawa K, et al. 2010. Characterization of photosystem I antenna proteins in the prasinophyte Ostreococcus tauri. Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1797:1458–64
- 171. Thauer RK. 2007. A fifth pathway of carbon fixation. Science 318:1732-33
- 172. Thauer RK, Kaster AK, Seedorf H, Buckel W, Hedderich R. 2008. Methanogenic Archaea: ecologically relevant differences in energy conservation. *Nat. Rev. Microbiol.* 6:579–91
- Trotsenko YA, Murrell JC. 2008. Metabolic aspects of aerobic obligate methanotrophy. Adv. Appl. Microbiol. 63:183–229

- 174. Unden G, Bongaerts J. 1997. Alternative respiratory pathways of *Escherichia coli*: energetics and transcriptional regulation in response to electron acceptors. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 1320:217–34
- 175. Walter JM, Greenfield D, Bustamante C, Liphardt J. 2007. Light-powering *Escherichia coli* with proteorhodopsin. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 104:2408–12
- 176. Wedemayer GJ, Kidd DG, Glazer AN. 1996. Cryptomonad biliproteins: bilin types and locations. *Photosynth. Res.* 48:163-70
- 177. Welander PV, Coleman ML, Sessions AL, Summons RE, Newman DK. 2010. Identification of a methylase required for 2-methylhopanoid production and implications for the interpretation of sedimentary hopanes. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 107:8537–42
- Widdel F, Schnell S, Heising S, Ehrenreich A, Assmus B, Schink B. 1993. Ferrous iron oxidation by anoxygenic phototrophic bacteria. *Nature* 362:834–36
- Wilde SA, Valley JW, Peck WH, Graham CM. 2001. Evidence from detrital zircons for the existence of continental crust and oceans on the Earth 4.4 Gyr ago. *Nature* 409:175–78
- Wolfe GR, Cunningham FX, Durnford D, Green BR, Gantt E. 1994. Evidence for a common origin of chloroplasts with light-harvesting complexes of different pigmentation. *Nature* 367:566–68
- Yanyushin MF, del Rosario M, Brune DC, Blankenship RE. 2005. New class of bacterial membrane oxidoreductases. *Biochemistry* 44:10037–45
- Zarzycki J, Brecht V, Muller M, Fuchs G. 2009. Identifying the missing step of the autotrophic 3hydroxypropionate CO₂ fixation cycle in *Chloroflexus aurantiacus*. Proc. Natl. Acad Sci. USA 106:21317–22

$\mathbf{\hat{R}}$

υ

Annual Review of Plant Biology

Volume 62, 2011

Contents

It Is a Long Way to GM Agriculture Marc Van Montagu
Anion Channels/Transporters in Plants: From Molecular Bases to Regulatory Networks Hélène Barbier-Brygoo, Alexis De Angeli, Sophie Filleur, Jean-Marie Frachisse, Franco Gambale, Sébastien Thomine, and Stefanie Wege
Connecting the Plastid: Transporters of the Plastid Envelope and Their Role in Linking Plastidial with Cytosolic Metabolism Andreas P.M. Weber and Nicole Linka
Organization and Regulation of Mitochondrial Respiration in Plants A. Harvey Millar, James Whelan, Kathleen L. Soole, and David A. Day
Folate Biosynthesis, Turnover, and Transport in Plants Andrew D. Hanson and Jesse F. Gregory III
Plant Nucleotide Sugar Formation, Interconversion, and Salvage by Sugar Recycling Maor Bar-Peled and Malcolm A. O'Neill 127
Sulfur Assimilation in Photosynthetic Organisms: Molecular Functions and Regulations of Transporters and Assimilatory Enzymes <i>Hideki Takahashi, Stanislav Kopriva, Mario Giordano, Kazuki Saito,</i>
Signaling Network in Sensing Phosphate Availability in Plants <i>Tzyy-Jen Chiou and Shu-I Lin</i>
Integration of Nitrogen and Potassium Signaling Yi-Fang Tsay, Cheng-Hsun Ho, Hui-Yu Chen, and Shan-Hua Lin
Roles of Arbuscular Mycorrhizas in Plant Nutrition and Growth: New Paradigms from Cellular to Ecosystem Scales
Sally E. Smith and F. Andrew Smith

The BioCassava Plus Program: Biofortification of Cassava for Sub-Saharan Africa
Richard Sayre, John R. Beeching, Edgar B. Cahoon, Chiedozie Egesi, Claude Fauquet, John Fellman, Martin Fregene, Wilhelm Gruissem, Sally Mallowa, Mark Manary, Bussie Maziya-Dixon, Ada Mbanaso, Daniel P. Schachtman, Dimuth Siritunga, Nigel Taylor, Herve Vanderschuren, and Peng Zhang
In Vivo Imaging of Ca ²⁺ , pH, and Reactive Oxygen Species Using Fluorescent Probes in Plants Sarah J. Swanson, Won-Gyu Choi, Alexandra Chanoca, and Simon Gilroy
The Cullen-RING Ubiquitin-Protein Ligases Zhihua Hua and Richard D. Vierstra
The Cryptochromes: Blue Light Photoreceptors in Plants and AnimalsInês Chaves, Richard Pokorny, Martin Byrdin, Nathalie Hoang, Thorsten Ritz,Klaus Brettel, Lars-Oliver Essen, Gijsbertus T.J. van der Horst,Alfred Batschauer, and Margaret Ahmad335
The Role of Mechanical Forces in Plant Morphogenesis Vincent Mirabet, Pradeep Das, Arezki Boudaoud, and Olivier Hamant
Determination of Symmetric and Asymmetric Division Planes in Plant Cells <i>Carolyn G. Rasmussen, John A. Humphries, and Laurie G. Smith</i>
The Epigenome and Plant Development Guangming He, Axel A. Elling, and Xing Wang Deng
Genetic Regulation of Sporopollenin Synthesis and Pollen Exine Development <i>Tohru Ariizumi and Kinya Toriyama</i>
Germline Specification and Function in Plants <i>Frédéric Berger and David Twell</i>
Sex Chromosomes in Land Plants Ray Ming, Abdelhafid Bendahmane, and Susanne S. Renner
Evolution of Photosynthesis Martin F. Hohmann-Marriott and Robert E. Blankenship
Convergent Evolution in Plant Specialized Metabolism Eran Pichersky and Efraim Lewinsohn
 Evolution and Diversity of Plant Cell Walls: From Algae to Flowering Plants Zoë Popper, Gurvan Michel, Cécile Hervé, David S. Domozych, William G.T. Willats, Maria G. Tuohy, Bernard Kloareg, and Dagmar B. Stengel